# MEDICAID ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS: TRENDS, EXPANSION EFFECTS, AND

EXPRESS LANE ELIGIBILITY

Casey Patricia Balio

Submitted to the faculty of the University Graduate School in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in the Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health, Indiana University

July 2020

Accepted by the Graduate Faculty of Indiana University, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Doctoral Committee

Nir Menachemi, PhD, Chair

Justin Blackburn, PhD

May 18, 2020

Valerie A. Yeager, DrPH

Kosali Simon, PhD

© 2020 Casey Patricia Balio

# DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my loving and supportive husband, Robert Luke. For both of us, these past four years have been full studying, writing, and many highs and lows. You have provided unwavering support through both the tears and celebrations, and for that I am incredibly grateful. I love you and I could not have done this without you.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to acknowledge the support of my dissertation committee, the Health Policy and Management faculty, fellow PhD students, and my family and friends.

To Dr. Nir Menachemi, you have always been supportive and encouraging. I have appreciated your careful mentorship, transparency, enthusiasm, and willingness to provide me with opportunities to learn and grow. I have learned a tremendous amount from you about research, academia, the pursuit of important work, and doing so with collegiality and joy. Thank you for supporting me through many academic endeavors, and especially this dissertation. Without you, this work would not have happened.

To Dr. Justin Blackburn, thank you for allowing me to be a part of your work and for your support throughout my dissertation. You have generously provided me with a great deal of thoughtful mentorship and advice which have been invaluable.

To Dr. Valerie Yeager, thank you for your willingness to bring me onto projects even early on. You have provided me with many unique opportunities to explore new ideas, methods, and areas of research with latitude but thoughtful guidance. I am grateful for your formal and informal mentorship throughout this time and have immensely enjoyed working with you.

To Dr. Kosali Simon, you have provided numerous opportunities to learn and connect with other researchers in this field. Thank you for introducing me to this work and for your encouragement and support throughout my dissertation.

To Dr. Christopher Harle, thank you for creating such a supportive and nurturing environment for doctoral students. I have gained many opportunities because of your thoughtfulness and owe much of my growth and development throughout the past four years to your dedicated effort to grow this program.

To Dr. Ann Holmes, you are truly one of the most thoughtful and considerate professors I have ever had. I have a great appreciation not only for the content you have taught me but for the way in which you did so with compassion, consideration, and encouragement.

v

To Dr. Joshua Vest, thank you for the all you have taught me through both course work and collaborations. I have learned a great deal about writing, conducting rigorous research, and asking meaningful questions from you which I hope to bring to all future work.

To Dr. Marion Greene, thank you for bringing me onto SEOW and providing opportunities to participate in important work. I have appreciated this experience and your guidance throughout.

To Dr. Olena Mazurenko, thank you for allowing me to be a part of the systematic review on Medicaid expansion. I learned so much through this work, and it was influential in shaping my dissertation.

To my fellow PhD students, thank you for all of the support, comradery, and encouragement over the past four years. The many projects, assignments, collaborations, happy hours, and dissertation support groups over the past 4 years have been invaluable and enjoyable thanks to you all. Thank you for being there on good days and bad ones, and until almost 9pm when night classes ended. You all have made these past four years full of happy memories.

Finally, to my family and friends both near and far, you all have provided me with immeasurable and unwavering encouragement throughout this entire process and I thank you all.

#### Casey Patricia Balio

# MEDICAID ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS: TRENDS, EXPANSION EFFECTS, AND EXPRESS LANE ELIGIBILITY

Medicaid covers 21% of Americans which includes over 65 million children and adults, making it the largest single source of health insurance for Americans. As a public program jointly administered between the federal and state governments, states exhibit substantial control over the structure of their programs, with the intention of modifying programs to fit the needs of the state and population. Medicaid has experienced numerous changes at both the state and federal levels in recent years which have created novel ways of modifying their structures, many of which may have implications for administrative expenditures. As publicly funded programs and given the state autonomy over such, it is important to consider the relationships and effects of such decisions on the performance of these programs.

The purpose of this dissertation is to consider numerous variations in state Medicaid programs and the state contexts in which they operate, and the relationship to administrative spending. This dissertation focuses on three studies including 1) a panel analysis of the trends and correlates of state Medicaid administrative expenditures, 2) a quasi-experimental study of the effects of Medicaid expansion on administrative expenditures, and finally 3) a quasi-experimental study of the effects of the use of Express Lane Eligibility on administrative expenditures. Overall, this dissertation provides a better understanding of the variations, correlates, and drivers of Medicaid administrative expenditures.

Nir Menachemi, PhD, Chair

List of Tables	X
List of Figures	xi
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Introduction	1
Overview of Dissertation	3
References	6
Chapter Two: Trends and Correlates of State Medicaid Administrative Expenditures (2007 –	
2017)	11
Introduction	11
Conceptual Framework	12
Methods	13
Population & Data	13
Dependent Variables	14
Independent Variables	14
Analyses	16
Results	16
Discussion	22
Limitations	24
Conclusions	25
References	26
Chapter Three: Effects of Medicaid Expansion on State Administrative Expenditures	32
Introduction	32
Methods	33
Population & Data	33
Measures	34
Analyses	35
Results	37
Discussion	41
Limitations	43
Conclusions	43
References	44
Chapter Four: Effects of Express Lane Eligibility on Medicaid Administrative Expenditures	50
Introduction	50
Methods	51
Population & Data	52
Measures	52
Analyses	53
Results	53
Discussion	59
Limitations	61
Conclusions	61
References	62
Chapter Five: Conclusions	67
Appendices	71
Appendix A: Sensitivity Analysis Regression Results with Different Treatment of	
Outliers	72
Appendix B: Sensitivity Analysis Regression Results with Lagged Political	
Characteristics	74
Appendix C: Expansion Status, Type, & Dates	75

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appendix D: Parallel Trends Assumption Testing	76
Appendix E: Description of Size of Expansion	78
Appendix F: Effects of Expansion Full Regression Results with Controls Presented	80
Appendix G: Regression Results from Expansion Sensitivity Analyses	82
Appendix H: Description of ELE Data	84
Appendix I: Effects of ELE Full Regression Results with Controls Presented	85
Appendix J: Regression Results from ELE Sensitivity Analyses	86
Curriculum Vitae	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Administrative Spending, Programmatic, Political,	
Economic & Demographic Characteristics	20
Table 2. Correlates of Medicaid Administrative Spending State Fixed Effects Regression	
Results	21
Table 3. Comparisons of Pre and Post Expansion Administrative Spending between Non-	
Expansion and Various Expansion Types	39
Table 4. Adjusted DID Regression Results for Effects of Expansion on Administrative	
Spending	40
Table 5. Descriptions of ELE Approach by State	55
Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for States with no ELE Compared to Any ELE During the	
Study Period	56
Table 7. Regression Results for Effects of ELE on Administrative Spending	58

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Trends in Spending as a Percent of Total Spending	17
Figure 2. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Expenditures	18
Figure 3. Cross-Sectional 2017 State Administrative Expenditures	19
Figure 4. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by Expansion Status	38
Figure 5. Trends in Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative by Expansion Status	39
Figure 6. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by Ever ELE Status	57
Figure 7. Trends in Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative by Ever ELE Status	57
Figure 8. Post-ELE Implementation Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by ELE	
Approach	59
Figure 9. Post-ELE Implementation Trends in Percent of Total Spending that is	
Administrative by ELE Approach	59

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### Introduction

Medicaid was established with the passage of the Social Security Act in 1965 to provide health insurance to low income children, parents, and individuals with disabilities.1.1–1.4 It was included as a late addition to the overall Act which focused on Medicare and Social Security. 1.1, 1.3 In the years after 1965, it became clear that Medicaid was an important component of the US healthcare system as it quickly exceeded it's expected coverage and costs. 1.2–1.4 Since then, Medicaid and its more recent partner program, the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), have grown to cover over 72 million individuals in the US in 2019, 1.5 including 39% of children in the United States in 2017. 1.6

Medicaid was designed to be jointly administered by states and the federal government in terms of both design and funding. 1.1, 1.3 While there are federal standards that the programs must meet and changes must be approved by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS, the federal administrator of the program), states design many of the components of their programs. Funding is similar in that there is a 'match' between the costs the states incur and what the federal government will contribute called the Federal Medical Assistance Program (FMAP). 1.7, 1.8 For medical expenditures, this is based on the average income of the state. For administrative expenditures, it varies by particular expenditure but is consistent across states. CHIP programs utilize a different 'enhanced-FMAP.' This joint structure was created to allow states to modify their programs to fit the needs of their states and constituents. The autonomy provided to states has cultivated great variation in Medicaid programs across states, including in terms of eligibility criteria, enrollment processes, services covered, and the use of managed care,1 many of which have possible implications for administrative costs.

Modifications to Medicaid programs may arise from individual state circumstances or stem from federal policy changes. 1.9 In recent years, Medicaid has seen numerous state and

federal policy changes including the introduction of Express Lane Eligibility (ELE) through the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act (CHIPRA) in 2009, the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010, and renewed interest from the federal government for the use of 1115 demonstration waivers to experiment with new program components. ELE is an optional program component where other state safety net programs such as the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), and the National School Lunch Program (NSLP) are able to identify children that are potentially eligible for Medicaid or CHIP in order to increase enrollment and create administrative efficiencies. 1.10, 1.11 The ACA originally included mandatory Medicaid expansion for all states where those who opted out would lose federal funding, an unattractive option to states given the costs of Medicaid and the federal match rates in place. 1.12 However, after states contested this component of the ACA, the Supreme Court ruled that mandatory expansion was unconstitutional and became optional for states. Since then, 37 states including DC have expanded their Medicaid programs. 1.13 1115 Demonstration waivers were included in the original 1965 legislation establishing Medicaid as a way for states to experiment with their programs. 1.9, 1.14 This supported the idea of state learning and policy experimentation. While these changes must be approved by CMS, demonstration waivers have been used for a variety of modifications including covering additional services, requiring cost sharing, and community engagement requirements often referred to as work requirements. 1.9, 1.14 In addition to approval by CMS, waivers must go through a public comment period and have a formal, independent evaluation. 1.14

In addition to the numerous policy changes, as publicly funded programs in which eligibility is based on income, Medicaid and CHIP are particularly sensitive to economic changes, such as the Great Recession of 2008. 1.15–1.17 These policy and economic changes have fostered numerous Medicaid changes which not only affect enrollment, but likely affect overall and administrative costs of the programs.

Historically, Medicaid has exhibited considerable variation in total per capita spending both within and across states, and greater variation across the country than in Medicare or overall per capita spending. 1.18 Many studies have identified state, political, economic, and program characteristics associated with spending, but either focus on overall spending or medical spending and do not consider administrative spending. 1.19–1.22 One of these studies identified that much of the variation in spending is due to discretionary spending, 1.22 which may suggest that at least some portion of administrative costs too are within the control of the state. When considering administrative costs specifically, Medicaid often ranks between those of Medicare and private insurers. 1.23–1.26 The autonomy of state programs and the variation that exists in overall per capita spending in Medicaid suggests that there may also be variation in administrative costs across states and time.

## **Overview of Dissertation**

The purpose of this dissertation is to estimate state Medicaid administrative costs with respect to state, political, and specific programmatic characteristics. Study 1 will use data from 2007-2017 to describe state Medicaid administrative expenditures, trends, and identify contemporaneous state, political, and programmatic correlates of state administrative expenditures. Study 2 will estimate the effects of ACA Medicaid expansion on administrative expenditures as well as the mediating effects of enrollment gains. Study 3 will estimate the effects of ELE on enrollment and administrative costs.

Study 1 will consider the association between Medicaid administrative costs and state demographic, economic, and programmatic characteristics. Medicaid programs exhibit substantial variation in costs across the country. 1.18 Previous research has focused on what factors are associated with medical or overall Medicaid spending. 1.19–1.22 Factors associated with medical and overall spending include eligibility criteria, services covered, and prices. The variation in Medicaid spending and program structure suggest there may be associated differences in administrative spending as well. This study will build on this previous work by utilizing state-

year demographic, economic, and program characteristics to describe trends in and correlates of state administrative costs between 2007-2017.

Study 2 will use a quasi-experimental, generalized difference-in-differences (DID) approach to compare changes in administrative expenditures in states that expanded Medicaid after the ACA compared to those who did not. Studies of the most recent Medicaid expansion through the ACA have considered countless effects from those directly intended 1.27, 1.28 such as enrollment and access to care to those more distant from the policy change such as receipt of payday loans 1.29 and housing evictions. 1.30 While there have been studies that have considered the financial implications of expansion, 1.27, 1.28, 1.31 these are less common and have not considered administrative costs specifically. Among the collection of expansion studies, many focused on the coarse approach of comparing expansion states to non-expansion states by treating all expansion states the same. However, several studies have not only estimated effects of expansion compared to non-expansion states, but have considered variation among expansions. 1.32–1.34 These studies have identified heterogeneous effects of expansion and make a case for considering variations in expansion rather than using expansion as a binary measure. As in previous studies, we will consider expansion decisions as well as the size of the expansions as the policy intervention. Additionally, we will consider the mediating effect of enrollment gains on the causal pathway between expansion and administrative expenditures.

Study 3 will also use a generalized DID design to estimate the effects of ELE on child enrollment and administrative costs. The introduction of federal support for ELE began with CHIPRA in 2009. This provided guidance on the numerous options that existed in designing an ELE program and participating states would qualify for a performance bonus, incentivizing the program. Like other Medicaid components, ELE allows for a variety of structures including choice of agencies to coordinate with, use of ELE for preliminary eligibility determinations and/or redeterminations, and the use of automatic enrollment or a simplified process. Early studies of ELE have focuses on the enrollment benefits which have been consistently seen, but

few consider administrative costs. 1.10, 1.11, 1.35–1.38 Those that do often rely on qualitative data, acknowledge data limitations, and find mixed results across agencies. Additionally, while many studies consider the variations in use of ELE for automatic enrollment and other ELE structural choices, no studies consider the coordinating agency. Finally, these studies often use data through 2011, however there have been additional states to implement ELE since then in different forms and several states have stopped ELE. Our study will improve upon previous work by extending the sample time period, consider states that had not yet implemented ELE in the early work, consider the coordinating agency/agencies, and will include objective measures of administrative costs as reported by Medicaid and CHIP.

Overall, this dissertation intends to consider the numerous variations in state Medicaid programs and their contexts and the relationship to administrative costs. In a time with unprecedented rates of change in Medicaid and continued dialogue about the efficacy and efficiency of various health insurance programs at the state and national levels, this dissertation will provide context and empirical evidence to support these conversations.

#### References

- 1.1. Rosenbaum S. Medicaid. N Engl J Med. 2002;346(8):635-640.
   doi:10.1056/NEJM200202213460825
- 1.2. Moore JD;, Smith DG. Legislating Medicaid: Considering Medicaid and Its Origins. *Health Care Financ Rev.* 2005;27(2):45. https://search.proquest.com/docview/196956999/fulltextPDF/2B631C6D10DE4208PQ/1
   ?accountid=7398. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 1.3. Friedman E. The Compromise and the Afterthought. *JAMA*. 1995;274(3):278. doi:10.1001/jama.1995.03530030098045
- 1.4. Davis K. Medicaid Payments and Utilization of Medical Services by the Poor. *Inquiry*. 1976;13(2):122-135.
  https://www.jstor.org/stable/29770991?seq=1#metadata\_info\_tab\_contents. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 1.5. Medicaid.gov. June 2019 Medicaid & amp; CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chipenrollment-data/report-highlights/index.html. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 1.6. KFF. Health Insurance Coverage of Children 0-18, 2017. https://www.kff.org/other/stateindicator/children-0-18/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Uninsured%22,%22sort%

22:%22desc%22%7D. Accessed September 29, 2019.

- MACPAC. Matching Rates. https://www.macpac.gov/subtopic/matching-rates/. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- MACPAC. Federal Match Rates for Medicaid Administrative Activities. https://www.macpac.gov/federal-match-rates-for-medicaid-administrative-activities/. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 1.9. Artiga S, Hinton E, Rudowitz R, Musumeci M. Current Flexibility in Medicaid: An

Overview of Federal Standards and State Options.; 2017.

http://files.kff.org/attachment/Issue-Brief-Current-Flexibility-in-Medicaid-An-Overviewof-Federal-Standards-and-State-Options. Accessed September 29, 2019.

- 1.10. Hoag S, Orzol S, Colby M, et al. CHIPRA Mandated Evaluation of Express Lane Eligibility: First Year Findings. Princeton, NJ; 2012. https://www.mathematicampr.com/our-publications-and-findings/publications/chipra-mandated-evaluation-ofexpress-lane-eligibility-first-year-findings. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 1.11. Hoag S, Swinburn A, Orzol S, et al. CHIPRA Mandated Evaluation of Express Lane Eligibility: Final Findings.; 2013. https://www.mathematica.org/our-publications-andfindings/publications/chipra-mandated-evaluation-of-express-lane-eligibility-finalfindings. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 1.12. Rosenbaum S, Westmoreland TM. The Supreme Court's Surprising Decision On The Medicaid Expansion: How Will The Federal Government And States Proceed? *Health Aff.* 2012;31(8):1663-1672. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.0766
- 1.13. The Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation. Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisionsinteractive-map/. Published 2019. Accessed August 22, 2019.
- 1.14. Hinton E, Musumeci M, Rudowitz R, Antonisse L, Hall C. Section 1115 Medicaid Demonstration Waivers: The Current Landscape of Approved and Pending Waivers.;
  2019. http://files.kff.org/attachment/Issue-Brief-Section-1115-Medicaid-Demonstration-Waivers-The-Current-Landscape-of-Approved-and-Pending-Waivers. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 1.15. Morrisey MA, Blackburn J, Becker DJ, et al. The Great Recession of 2007–2009 and Public Insurance Coverage for Children in Alabama: Enrollment and Claims Data from 1999–2011. *Public Health Rep.* 2016;131(2):348-356. doi:10.1177/003335491613100219

- 1.16. Moffitt RA. The Effects of the Great Recession. *Ann Am Acad Pol Soc Sci.* 2013;650:143-166. doi:10.1177/0002716213499532
- 1.17. Holahan J. The 2007–09 Recession And Health Insurance Coverage. *Health Aff*. 2011;30(1):145-152. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.1003
- 1.18. Martin AB, Whittle L, Heffler S, Barron MC, Sisko A, Washington B. Health Spending By State Of Residence, 1991–2004. *Health Aff.* 2007;26(Suppl2):w651-w663. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.26.6.w651
- 1.19. Holahan J. State Variation In Medicaid Spending: Hard To Justify. *Health Aff.* 2007;26(Suppl2):w667-w669. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.26.6.w667
- Holahan J, Yemane A. Enrollment is driving medicaid costs But two targets can yield savings. *Health Aff.* 2009. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.28.5.1453
- 1.21. Weil A. There's something about Medicaid. *Health Aff.* 2003. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.22.1.13
- 1.22. Kousser T. The Politics of Discretionary Medicaid Spending, 1980–1993. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2005. doi:10.1215/03616878-27-4-639
- 1.23. Mnuchin ST, Acosta AR, Azar II AM, Berryhill NA, Verma S. 2019 Annual Report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds.; 2019. https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Dataand-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2019.pdf. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 1.24. Zycher B. Comparing Public and Private Health Insurance: Would a Single-Payer System Save Enough to Cover the Uninsured?; 2007. https://www.manhattaninstitute.org/html/comparing-public-and-private-health-insurance-would-single-payersystem-save-enough-cover. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 1.25. Sullivan K. How to Think Clearly about Medicare Administrative Costs: Data Sources and Measurement. *J Health Polit Policy Law.* 2013;38(3):479-504.

doi:10.1215/03616878-2079523

- Holahan J, McMorrow S. *Health Care Spending: Medicare and Medicaid Spending.*;
   2019. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2019/02/slow-growth-in-medicare-and-medicaid-spending-per-enrollee.html. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 1.27. Mazurenko O, Balio CP, Agarwal R, Carroll AE, Menachemi N. The effects of medicaid expansion under the ACA: A systematic review. *Health Aff.* 2018;37(6).
  doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1491
- 1.28. Antonisse L, Garfield R, Rudowitz R, Artiga S. The Effects of Medicaid Expansion under the ACA: Updated Findings from a Literature Review.; 2018. http://files.kff.org/attachment/Issue-Brief-The-Effects-of-Medicaid-Expansion-Underthe-ACA-Updated-Findings-from-a-Literature-Review. Accessed August 5, 2019.
- Allen H, Swanson A, Wang J, Gross T. Early Medicaid Expansion Associated With Reduced Payday Borrowing In California. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(10):1769-1776. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0369
- 1.30. Allen HL, Eliason E, Zewde N, Gross T. Can Medicaid Expansion Prevent Housing Evictions? *Health Aff.* 2019;38(9):1451-1457. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05071
- Sommers BD, Gruber J. Federal Funding Insulated State Budgets From Increased Spending Related To Medicaid Expansion. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(5):938-944. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1666
- 1.32. Freedman S, Richardson L, Simon KI. Learning From Waiver States: Coverage Effects Under Indiana's HIP Medicaid Expansion. *Health Aff.* 2018;37(6):936-943. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1596
- 1.33. McMorrow S, Gates JA, Long SK, Kenney GM. Medicaid Expansion Increased Coverage, Improved Affordability, And Reduced Psychological Distress For Low-Income Parents. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(5):808-818. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1650
- 1.34. Garthwaite C, Graves J, Gross T, Karaca Z, Marone V, Notowidigdo MJ. All Medicaid

expansions are not created equal: The geography and targeting of the Affordable Care Act. In: *BPEA Conference Draft, Fall*. ; 2019. https://www.brookings.edu/bpeaarticles/all-medicaid-expansions-are-not-created-equal-the-geography-and-targeting-ofthe-affordable-care-act/amp/?\_\_twitter\_impression=true. Accessed September 16, 2019.

- 1.35. Hoag SD. Spotlight on Express Lane Eligibility (ELE): A Tool to Improve Enrollment and Renewal. *Acad Pediatr.* 2015;15(3):S28-S35. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2015.02.010
- 1.36. Harrington ME. The Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act Evaluation Findings on Children's Health Insurance Coverage in an Evolving Health Care Landscape. Acad Pediatr. 2015;15(3):S1-S6. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2015.03.007
- 1.37. Blavin F, Kenney GM, Huntress M. The Effects of Express Lane Eligibility on Medicaid and CHIP Enrollment among Children. *Health Serv Res.* 2014;49(4):1268-1289. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12157
- 1.38. Blavin F, Kenney GM, Huntress M. An Early Look at the Impact of Express Lane Eligibility on Medicaid and Children's Health Insurance Program Enrollment: An Analysis of the Statistical Enrollment Data System.; 2012. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/71376/412822-an-early-look.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2019.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

# TRENDS AND CORRELATES OF STATE MEDICAID ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES (2007 – 2017)

## Introduction

Medicaid covers 21% of Americans 2.1 which includes 65 million children and adults, 2.2 making it the single largest source of health insurance in the United States. Medicaid is jointly funded by the states and the federal government and gives states substantial control over the structure and administration of their programs. This control facilitates policy learning and experimentation as states modify program structures, eligibility, and managed care participation in an effort to meet the needs of their constituents and program. Over time, health care costs have increased for all Americans; and recent reform efforts including those focused on Medicaid have sought to improve the value of care in part by reducing per capita costs.

There has been considerable variation in overall per capita Medicaid spending both within and across states, to an even greater extent than in private insurance or Medicare. 2.3 Medicaid spending is believed to be a function of state decisions and economic conditions. Differences in medical and overall Medicaid spending have been linked to enrollment changes, differences in covered services, prices, and other program structural choices, 2.4-2.8 many of which may also contribute to administrative costs. Historically Medicaid has maintained relatively low administrative costs at approximately 4-5% of total spending compared to those of Medicare (1-6%) and private insurance (8-13%). 2.9-2.13 But a recent report identified a higher percent administration in Medicaid at 10.4% and a greater growth rate in administrative spending compared to other insurance types. 2.13 Importantly, there is little consensus around the methods and measures for estimating and comparing administrative costs across different insurance types. 2.9, 2.10, 2.14, 2.15 For example, the recent report which estimated a much higher percent of Medicaid spending on administration included other costs outside of the direct administrative costs by the government agency. 2.13 Given the variation in overall and medical expenditures across states,

national estimates of administrative spending may be masking state differences. At a time with unprecedented changes in Medicaid with further reforms being considered, surprisingly little is known about administrative costs in Medicaid at the state level, how they have changed over time, and whether state, political, and Medicaid program characteristics are related to per enrollee and overall administrative costs.

The purpose of this study is to (1) summarize national and state per-enrollee Medicaid administrative spending trends and (2) to identify state, political, and program characteristics associated with these expenditures. This study uses state Medicaid expenditure reports from 2007-2017 in order to characterize state spending profiles over time. Findings from this study will be of interest to state and federal policymakers including those at the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services in understanding costs, efficiency, and the variation in programs, especially considering that spending in Medicaid, especially through eligibility choices, has always been highly politicized and associated with state politics and state philosophical ideologies. 2.6–2.8 Findings may inform future budget allocation, spending decisions, and other structural program decisions.

## **Conceptual Framework**

Administrative spending in the US healthcare system has been of great interest as it is substantially higher than in other countries and a significant proportion of it may be considered waste. 2.12, 2.16, 2.17 Administrative spending by health insurers includes a variety of activities such as billing and eligibility assessments 2.18 and therefore is likely a function of enrollment. A variety of characteristics including economic, demographic, political, and program structure drive enrollment in Medicaid and therefore may be important contributors to administrative spending. Our study will consider these categories of state contextual factors as potential correlates of Medicaid administrative spending.

First, as a publicly funded and state-run program, Medicaid in particular may be subject to state economic conditions including recessions, 2.18–2.20 and states may be able to affect

enrollment through administrative processes required for enrollment. Second, Medicaid historically has catered to certain demographics (i.e. low income children and parents and individuals with disabilities) and certain populations are disproportionately insured by Medicaid, 2.21 thus consideration of state demographic characteristics may be related to administrative spending. Next, political factors may also be important as governors are often highly involved in making changes to Medicaid programs. Previous work on discretionary spending in Medicaid identified political characteristics as important correlates of such spending. 2.7 Finally, programmatic characteristics such as eligibility generosity, measured as the eligibility criteria for parents, are also set at the state level and have been associate with enrollment. 2.20 Other programmatic characteristics including managed care coverage and federal match rates may shield Medicaid programs from certain costs and therefore may be related to administrative spending specifically.

## Methods

Using a longitudinal, panel analysis, this study considers the association between Medicaid administrative costs and contemporaneous state, program, and political characteristics. Population & Data

This study utilizes 11 years of state-year level data for all 50 states, excluding Washington, DC from 2007-2017. The study relies on a novel dataset compiled from various public sources. Cost data are from CMS Form 64 in which states report their annual Medicaid expenditures. 2.22 Medicaid enrollment data are from Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) reports 2.23, 2.24 and CMS's Medicaid Budget and Expenditure System Quarterly Medicaid Enrollment reports. 2.25 State demographic and economic data are from the American Community Survey (ACS), 2.26 Current Population Survey (CPS), 2.27 the US Census Bureau, 2.28 and CDC WONDER. 2.29 Political characteristics were obtained from the National Governors Association (NGA) 2.30 and National Association for State Budget Officers (NASBO). 2.31 Program characteristics were compiled from various KFF sources. 2.32–34

## **Dependent Variables**

All measures were obtained for the state-year level, unless otherwise noted. The dependent variables include two measures of state Medicaid annual administrative expenditures. Within CMS Form 64, spending reports include specific line items although for the purposes of this study, the CMS defined categories of "medical assistance program" and "administrative" will be used. Specific measures of expenditures include the percent of total expenditures that are administrative and per-enrollee administrative expenditures. All spending values are converted into 2017 dollars using the CPI calculator from the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). In order to calculate per-enrollee administrative expenditures, June enrollment values were obtained from Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) reports for years 2007-2013. Starting in June 2014, enrollment values were obtained from CMS's Medicaid Budget and Expenditure System Quarterly Medicaid Enrollment reports. June enrollment were used because of availability across time and sources. After reviewing state-specific trends in enrollment across the transition between data sources, state enrollment appears to show a smooth transition across data sources. Independent Variables

Independent variables include a variety of state, program, and political characteristics in addition to an indicator for pre, during, or post the Great Recession because of the known relationship between economic conditions and Medicaid enrollment. 2.19, 2.20, 2.35 Period 1 is considered pre-recession and includes 2017. Period 2 (2008-2009) reflects the recession, Period 3 (2010-2013) is the post-recession and pre-ACA implementation, and Period 4 (2014-2017) is the post-recession, post-ACA implementation. The post-recession period was divided into two by the main ACA implementation occurring in 2014 at which time there were numerous changes happening in Medicaid that created a different healthcare environment at both the state and national levels. These characteristics were selected because of their suspected or known relationship to Medicaid costs or enrollment or their common use as controls in Medicaid studies.

State characteristics included demographic and economic characteristics of the population and state for each year. These included the annual unemployment rate from BLS; population size in millions, percent of the population age 25 or older with at least a high school diploma or equivalent, percent of the population male, percent of the population age 65 and older, and percent or population white, black, all other races, and percent Hispanic from the American Community Survey. Birth rate measured as the number of live births per 1,000 population was obtained from CDC WONDER. Poverty rate measured as the percent below 100% FPL was obtained from the Current Population Survey. State region was defined using the US Census Bureau designations.

Political characteristics included the governor's political affiliation from the National Governor's Association rosters of current and past governors and the percent of the state budget spent on Medicaid from the National Association for State Budget Officers. Governor's political affiliation was measured using the political party of the governor in office as Democrat, Republican, or other for at least 10 months of the year. Due to sample size limitations, this was recategorized to republican or democrat/other as there are only 3 observations with an Independent governor, and all occur in the same state. Governor's political affiliation was used as many Medicaid decisions made at the state-level are informed by the governor.

While there are numerous program characteristics that could have been included, this study focuses primarily on those considered relevant to spending or enrollment. The percent of individuals enrolled in managed care was obtained from reports from KFF covering years 2007-2017, except for 2012. Percent managed care for 2012 was imputed by averaging the 2011 and 2013 values based on the assumption that changes in managed care are relatively smooth and incremental. The Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) is the federal match rate for the medical costs of Medicaid which was obtained from a KFF report. This figure is calculated annually based on the average per-capita income for a state where those with lower per-capita incomes receive higher match rates. The FMAP rate must be at least 50% for each state. The

eligibility criteria for parents in Medicaid as a percent FPL was included as a measure of program generosity. This measure of eligibility was used as parents have historically been eligible for Medicaid across states for the full study period at least to some extent. These values were also obtained from KFF reports.

#### Analyses

Descriptive statistics were conducted to describe state spending levels and trends between 2007-2017. States with average highest and lowest spending levels over time were identified. The top and bottom 1 percentile of state-year observations in terms of their administrative spending were excluded from analyses as they contain improbable values. Panel regression methods were used to model various administrative spending measures as a function of the state, political, and programmatic characteristics described earlier. State fixed-effects models were ultimately selected based on formal tests, previous literature, and the nature of the data. Several sensitivity analyses were also included to assess the robustness of the findings to various analytic decisions. These included differing exclusion criteria for implausible administrative spending values including removing only the bottom 1 percentile, removing Vermont's observations for 2007-2011 based on other Medicaid changes happening in the state during this time, and including all state-year observations. Separate sensitivity analyses included lagged versions of the political indicators as it may take time for changes in policy under new administration to be passed or implemented.

#### Results

Throughout the 2007-2017 period, the national average for administrative expenditures as a percent of total Medicaid spending stayed relatively stable between 4.5-5.1%, however states ranged from a minimum of 1.7% (Arizona, 2011) to 9.6 (California, 2007, Figure 1). In 2017 alone, the percent of Medicaid expenditures that were administrative ranged from 2.29% (Arizona) to 8.8% (Wyoming, Figure 1).





**NOTE**: State-level trends in the percent of total spending that is administrative are depicted for 2007-2017. The thicker middle line represents the national average while the three lines above in dark grey (Wyoming, California, and Washington) are the states with the highest administrative spending over this time period and the states with the lowest measure of administrative spending during this time are below in light grey (Mississippi, New York, Kentucky).

With respect to per-enrollee administrative expenditures, the national average fell from \$458.33 in 2007 to \$377.56 in 2017 (Figure 2). Throughout the study period, the lowest perenrollee spending was \$123.96 in Arizona in 2011 while the highest was \$1148.43 in Alaska in 2012. In 2017, per-enrollee administrative expenditures ranged from \$142.04 (Arizona) to \$1,126.22 (North Dakota).

Figure 2. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Expenditures



**NOTE**: State-level trends in the per-enrollee administrative are depicted for 2007-2017. The thicker middle line represents the national average while the three lines above in dark grey (North Dakota, Wyoming, and Alaska) are the states with the highest administrative spending over this time period and the states with the lowest measure of administrative spending during this time are below in light grey (Mississippi, Alabama, and Kentucky).

These two measures of administrative expenditures were highly correlated with each other (Pearson Coefficient=0.821), however states' rankings on each measure varied (Figure 3). For example, the largest difference in rank in 2017 was in Illinois where it ranked 48<sup>th</sup> in the percent of Medicaid expenditures that were administrative but 21<sub>st</sub> in per-enrollee administrative expenditures, representing a difference in rank of 27 positions. On average across the study period, there was a difference in rank of 6.5 positions between the two measures of administrative expenditures.



Figure 3. Cross-Sectional 2017 State Administrative Expenditures

In addition to variation in state administrative spending, state programmatic, political, economic and demographic characteristics varied during the study period (Table 1). Percent of enrollees covered by managed care increased from an average of 65.0% in 2007 to 77.6% in 2017. In terms of political characteristics, the percent of state budgets spent on Medicaid also ranged from 4.5% to 38.8, with an average of 22.8%. In addition, 53% of the state year observations had a republican governor in office. There were also differences in population demographics across states during the study period. For example, the percent of the population that is white ranged from 24.6% to 95.8% and the percent of the population that is Hispanic ranged from 1% to nearly 49%.

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics of Administrative Spending, Programmatic, Political, Economic &

Demographic C	haracteristics
---------------	----------------

	Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
ADMINISTRATIVE SPENDING (outcome variables)	Per Enrollee Administrative Spending (2017 USD)	\$446.44	\$177.87	\$123.96	\$1148.43
	Administrative Spending as a Percent of Total Spending (%)	5.03%	1.47%	1.70%	9.61%
PROGRAMMATIC CHARACTERISTICS	Percent Managed Care	73.6%	22.2%	0.0%	100.0%
	FMAP Match Rate (%)	61.4%	8.9%	50.0%	84.9%
	Parental Eligibility Policy (%FPL)	91.0%	55.4%	16.0%	275.0%
POLITICAL CHARACTERISTICS	Percent state budget spent on Medicaid	22.8%	6.3%	6.6%	38.8%
ECONOMIC & DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	Unemployment Rate	6.3%	2.2%	2.4%	13.7%
	Percent population w/ Bachelor's or above	28.5%	5.1%	17.1%	43.4%
	Total population (millions)	6.40	6.99	0.52	39.54
	Percent Population Male	49.4%	0.7%	48.2%	52.7%
	Birth rate (per 1,000)	12.8	1.7	9.0	21.2
	Percent Population 65+	14.2%	2.0%	7.8%	20.1%
	Percent Population White	77.5%	12.6%	24.6%	95.8%
	Percent Population Black	10.6%	9.5%	0.3%	38.0%
	Percent Population Other	11.9%	10.9%	2.2%	73.9%
	Percent Population Hispanic	11.0%	10.1%	1.0%	48.8%

**NOTE**: Table includes all states for years 2007-2017, state-year observations with administrative expenditures in the top and bottom 1 percentile excluded. Washington DC not included.

Results from the state fixed effects regression analyses identified several state characteristics associated with both percent of total spending that is administrative and perenrollee administrative expenditures (Table 2). For the model considering the percent of total spending that is administrative, several factors were negatively associated with this measure including percent enrolled in managed care (coef: -0.007, p-value: 0.023), FMAP match rate (coef: -0.019, p-value: 0.046), parental eligibility policy as a percent FPL (coef: -0.006, p-value: <0.0010), a non-Republican governor (coef: -0.215, p-value: 0.027), total state population (coef: -0.536, p-value: <0.001), and the percent of the population 'other,' non-Black races relative to the percent white (coef: -0.175, p-value: <0.001). In contrast, factors that were positively associated with percent of total spending that is administrative included birth rate (coef: 0.289, p-value: 0.008), percent of the population age 65 and older (coef: 0.347, p-value: 0.001), and percent of the population that is black (coef: 0.268, p-value: 0.041).

		Administrative Spending as a Percent of Total Spending	Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending
	Recession Indicators		
	Period 1: Before Recession (2007)	-0.001	0.29
	Period 2: During Recession (2008-2009)	ref	ref
	Period 3: Post-Recession (2010-2013)	-0.085	-24.54
	Period 4: Post-Recession & Post-ACA Implementation (2014-2017)	-0.366	-85.69***
PROGRAMMATIC	Percent Managed Care	-0.007*	-0.34
CHARACTERISTICS	FMAP Match Rate (%)	-0.019*	-1.16
	Parental Eligibility Policy (%FPL)	-0.006***	-0.46***
POLITICAL	Percent state budget spent on Medicaid	0.000	0.08
CHARACTERISTICS	Governor Democrat/Other	-0.215*	-22.31*
ECONOMIC &	Unemployment Rate	0.008	2.55
DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	Percent population w/ Bachelor's or above	0.033	11.09
	Total population (millions)	-0.536***	-17.48
	Percent Population Male	0.046	22.99
	Birth rate (per 1,000)	0.289**	34.03**
	Percent Population 65+	0.347***	30.53**
	Percent Race		
	Percent Population White	ref	
	Percent Population Black	0.268*	45.61**
	Percent Population Other	-0.175***	-18.74***
	Percent Population Hispanic	0.152	-12.25
	Constant	-3.417	-1713.40

Table 2. Correlates of Medicaid Administrative Spending State Fixed Effects Regression Results

\* p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

**NOTE**: All state-year observations for 2007-2017 were included aside from those in which there was implausible expenditures data denoted by those in the top and bottom 1 percentile of expenditures values. Washington DC was not included in the analysis. Sensitivity analyses with different treatment of outliers is included in Appendix A. Sensitivity analyses with lagged political characteristics included in Appendix B.

Regression results for the dependent variable of per-enrollee administrative spending were similar in direction and significance with a few differences. Factors associated with lower

per-enrollee administrative expenditures include being in the Period 4 (2014-2017) relative to during the recession (coef: -85.69, p-value: <0.001), parental eligibility criteria as a percent FPL (coef: -0.463, p-value: 0.001), having a non-Republican governor (coef: -22.31, p-value: 0.034), and percent population 'other,' non-Black races relative to the percent white (coef: -18.74, p-value: <0.001). The greatest magnitude effect was for Period 4. During this time, administrative spending was nearly \$86 lower per-enrollee than during the recession. Factors associated with greater per-enrollee administrative expenditures include birth rate (coef: 34.03, p-value: 0.004), percent of the population age 65 and older (coef: 30.53, p-value: 0.006), and the percent of the population that is Black (coef: 45.61, p-value: 0.001). Birth rate and percent of the population that is Black were associated with a \$34 and nearly \$46 higher per-enrollee administrative spending, respectively.

Results of both regression models were largely robust to sensitivity analyses considering different treatment of observations with implausible spending values and lagged versions of the percent of the state budget spent on Medicaid. The indicator for the governor's political affiliation was not significant in the model with this variable lagged. Results from these models can be found in Appendices A and B.

#### Discussion

This is the first study to assess variation in Medicaid administrative spending across states and time. Findings suggests that states vary in their administrative expenditures and several programmatic, political, economic, and demographic factors are related to Medicaid administrative spending across states. Notably, some of these factors are within the control of the state while others are not.

Factors associated with one or both measures Medicaid administrative costs that are largely outside of states' control include Period 4 (2014-2017). This period is associated with significantly lower per-enrollee spending compared to the recession period, but not for administrative costs as a percent of total Medicaid spending. During this time there were many

changes that occurred both within and outside of Medicaid that may be driving this finding. These changes include the many changes with the overall ACA implementation including the optional Medicaid expansion, the Medicaid change to using the 'Modified Adjusted Gross Income' (MAGI) for eligibility determinations, 2.36 and the transition from MSIS to T-MSIS for states to report data uniformly to CMS. 2.37 While these changes generally occurred nationally, some occur in different states at different times and the experience within the states may be different.

Also outside of state control is the negative association between FMAP match rate and administration as a percent of total spending. FMAP is calculated based on the average income in the state where those with lower average incomes have higher match rates. This finding that higher match rates are associated with lower administrative spending as a percent of total spending may reflect greater health needs of the population and therefore greater medical spending for these states.

The demographic characteristics of the state that are associated with administrative spending are also outside of the control of the state. Birth rate and the percent of the population age 65 and higher are associated with higher administrative spending on both measures. Both of these life stages entail individuals either being enrolled (i.e. pregnant women, newborns, and older adults living in long-term care) or unenrolled (i.e. individuals becoming eligible for Medicare and may lose Medicaid coverage). In addition, these life stages have higher health care utilization and expenditures which may also be contributing to this finding. 2.38–2.41

The finding that higher proportions of state populations that is black is associated with higher administrative spending is also supported by other literature. Historically, Black individuals and families have experience more frequent changes in income which may affect Medicaid eligibility. 2.42, 2.43 A recent study considering churn in Medicaid after Medicaid expansion identified higher baseline rates of disruption in coverage and coverage loss as well as greater gains in coverage continuity among minority individuals after expansion. 2.44

Several program and state characteristics that are within the control of the state were found to be related to administrative spending. Managed care coverage is associated with lower administrative spending as a percent of total spending. It would be expected that greater managed care coverage would be associated with lower administrative spending at least to Medicaid as states are able to shift some of these expenses to the managed care entity. In fact, early studies find that administrative spending is higher among Medicaid managed care entities than for Medicaid agencies 2.45–2.47 and these administrative costs to the managed care entity are not included in the data used for our study. The data used in previous recent work that identified a larger increase in administrative spending for Medicaid compared to Medicare or private insurers in recent years was driven by increases in other non-medical expenditures rather than those accrued by either state Medicaid agencies or CMS, which may also reflect this trend in managed care. 2.13, 2.48

The parental eligibility policy is also negatively associated with percent of total spending that is administrative. This may reflect potential economies of scale, as more individuals become eligible and enrolled, the state Medicaid program becomes more efficient as reflected in administrative costs. There is some limited evidence that health insurance exhibits economies of scale in terms of administrative spending, but findings are not consistent across studies. 2.49–2.51

Finally, having a non-Republican governor is associated with lower administrative expenditures for both measures. Historically, left-leaning states have prioritized Medicaid more so than right-leaning states, as evidenced by discretionary spending, Medicaid expansion decisions, and general support of Medicaid, which aligns with this finding. 2.7, 2.52, 2.53 Limitations

While this is the first study to assess and describe variations in state-level Medicaid administrative costs, it has several important limitations. First, given the study design, we are only able to identify associations between state context and administrative costs, but not causal effects of how any of these factors may affect administrative spending. Second, this study only considers differences in administrative spending but does not assess differences in efficiency or effectiveness of administrative spending. Importantly, this study does not assess appropriateness of varying levels of administrative spending or enrollment or other returns on administrative spending that may begin to assess efficiency of this spending. Future work that measures the effectiveness of administrative spending would help to provide a more comprehensive understanding of these relationships. Finally, there are numerous other variations in Medicaid that may be considered. This study aimed to include those that are available and suspected to be associated with administrative costs, but future studies may consider additional variations or more nuanced measures of administrative spending.

## Conclusions

Overall, this study is the first to assess variations in and associations of state contextual factors with state Medicaid administrative expenditures. Findings from this study may begin to inform policy discussions around Medicaid program design and funding as we better understand factors within and outside of the states' control that may be related to administrative spending. This is particularly relevant as there continue to be discussions both at federal and state levels around efficiency and value of Medicaid. Future studies may consider additional variations in Medicaid programs and state contexts, decompose administrative spending further, and measure the efficiency of Medicaid administrative spending.
## References

- 2.1. Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population: 2017. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/totalpopulation/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22 sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Published 2019. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 2.2. March 2019 Medicaid & CHIP Enrollment Data Highlights. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollmentdata/report-highlights/index.html. Published 2019. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 2.3. Martin AB, Whittle L, Heffler S, Barron MC, Sisko A, Washington B. Health Spending By State Of Residence, 1991–2004. *Health Aff.* 2007;26(Suppl2):w651-w663. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.26.6.w651
- 2.4. Holahan J, Yemane A. Enrollment is driving medicaid costs But two targets can yield savings. *Health Aff.* 2009. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.28.5.1453
- 2.5. Weil A. There's something about Medicaid. Health Aff. 2003. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.22.1.13
- 2.6. Holahan J. State Variation In Medicaid Spending: Hard To Justify. *Health Aff.*2007;26(Suppl2):w667-w669. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.26.6.w667
- Kousser T. The Politics of Discretionary Medicaid Spending, 1980–1993. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2005. doi:10.1215/03616878-27-4-639
- Lukens G. State Variation in Health Care Spending and the Politics of State Medicaid Policy. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2014. doi:10.1215/03616878-2822634
- 2.9. Mnuchin ST, Acosta AR, Azar II AM, Berryhill NA, Verma S. 2019 Annual Report of the Boards of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance and Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Funds.; 2019. https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/ReportsTrustFunds/Downloads/TR2019.pdf. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 2.10. Zycher B. Comparing Public and Private Health Insurance: Would a Single-Payer System

Save Enough to Cover the Uninsured?; 2007. https://www.manhattan-

institute.org/html/comparing-public-and-private-health-insurance-would-single-payersystem-save-enough-cover. Accessed June 20, 2019.

- 2.11. Thorpe KE. Inside the black box of administrative costs. In: *Health Affairs*. Vol 11.
  Project HOPE The People-to-People Health Foundation, Inc. ; 1992:41-55.
  doi:10.1377/hlthaff.11.2.41
- 2.12. Himmelstein DU, Campbell T, Woolhandler S. Health care administrative costs in the United States and Canada, 2017. Ann Intern Med. 2020;172(2):134-142. doi:10.7326/M19-2818
- 2.13. Holahan J, McMorrow S. Health Care Spending: Medicare and Medicaid Spending.; 2019. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2019/02/slow-growth-in-medicare-andmedicaid-spending-per-enrollee.html. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 2.14. Sullivan K. How to Think Clearly about Medicare Administrative Costs: Data Sources and Measurement. J Health Polit Policy Law. 2013;38(3):479-504. doi:10.1215/03616878-2079523
- 2.15. Young PL, Leigh AO, Medicine R on E-BMI of. *The Healthcare Imperative: Lowering Costs and Improving Outcomes: Workshop Series Summar.*; 2010. doi:10.17226/12750
- 2.16. Tollen L, Keating E, Weil A. How Administrative Spending Contributes To Excess US Health Spending | Health Affairs. Health Affairs Blog. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20200218.375060/full/. Published February 20, 2020. Accessed April 6, 2020.
- 2.17. Papanicolas I, Woskie LR, Jha AK. Health care spending in the United States and other high-income countries. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 2018;319(10):1024-1039. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.1150
- 2.18. Bentley TGK, Effros RM, Palar K, Keeler EB. Waste in the U.S. health care system: A conceptual framework. *Milbank Q*. 2008;86(4):629-659. doi:10.1111/j.1468-

0009.2008.00537.x

- 2.19. Morrisey MA, Blackburn J, Becker DJ, et al. The Great Recession of 2007–2009 and Public Insurance Coverage for Children in Alabama: Enrollment and Claims Data from 1999–2011. *Public Health Rep.* 2016;131(2):348-356. doi:10.1177/003335491613100219
- 2.20. Benitez J, Perez V, Seiber E. Medicaid Access During Economic Distress: Lessons Learned From the Great Recession. *Med Care Res Rev.* March 2020:107755872090923. doi:10.1177/1077558720909237
- 2.21. Eligibility. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/eligibility/index.html. Accessed April 6, 2020.
- 2.22. Medicaid.gov. Expenditure Reports From MBES/CBES. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/finance/state-expenditure-reporting/expenditure-reports/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.23. Ellis ER, Roberts D, Rousseau DM, Schwartz T. Medicaid Enrollment in 50 States: June 2008 Data Update.; 2009. https://www.kff.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/7606-04.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.24. Snyder L, Rudowitz R, Ellis E, Roberts D. Medicaid Enrollment: June 2013 Data Snapshot.; 2014. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-enrollment-june-2013-data-snapshot/view/print/. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.25. Medicaid.gov. Medicaid Enrollment Data Collected Through MBES. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollmentdata/enrollment-mbes/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.26. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey (ACS). https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs.
- 2.27. US Census Bureau. Current Population Survey (CPS). https://www.census.gov/programssurveys/cps.html.
- 2.28. US Census Bureau. Census Regions and Divisions of the United States.

https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/maps-data/maps/reference/us\_regdiv.pdf.

- 2.29. United States Department of Health and Human Services (US DHHS) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Division of Vital Statistics. Natality public-use data 2007-2018, on CDC WONDER Online Database. http://wonder.cdc.gov/natality-current.html.
- 2.30. National Governors Association. Governors' Rosters (1988-2018) Historical List of Governors by Year in Office. https://www.nga.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/03/Governors-Historical-Rosters.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.31. National Association of State Budget Officers. Archive of State Expenditure Reports. https://www.nasbo.org/reports-data/state-expenditure-report/state-expenditure-archives. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.32. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Total Medicaid MCO Enrollment (2003-2017). https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-medicaid-mcoenrollment/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22 sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.33. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid and Multiplier (2004-2020). https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rate-and-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22s ort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 2.34. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Medicaid Income Eligibility Limits for Parents, 2002-2019. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-income-eligibility-limits-for-

parents/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort %22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.

2.35. Holahan J. The 2007–09 Recession And Health Insurance Coverage. Health Aff.

2011;30(1):145-152. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.1003

- 2.36. Heberlein M, Brooks T, Artiga S, Stephens J. Getting into Gear for 2014: Shifting New Medicaid Eligibility and Enrollment Policies into Drive.; 2013. https://www.kff.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/11/8516-getting-into-gear-for-2014-shifting-new-medicaideligibility1.pdf. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 2.37. Medicaid and CHIP T-MSIS Analytic Files Data Release. CMS.gov. https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicaid-and-chip-t-msis-analytic-files-data-release. Published November 7, 2019. Accessed March 5, 2020.
- 2.38. Alemayehu B, Warner KE. The lifetime distribution of health care costs. *Health Serv Res*.
  2004;39(3):627-642. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00248.x
- 2.39. Lassman D, Hartman M, Washington B, Andrews K, Catlin A. US Health Spending Trends By Age And Gender: Selected Years 2002–10. *Health Aff*. 2014;33(5):815-822. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1224
- 2.40. 2017 Health Care Cost and Utilization Report.; 2019. https://www.healthcostinstitute.org/images/easyblog\_articles/276/HCCI-2017-Health-Care-Cost-and-Utilization-Report-02.12.19.pdf. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 2.41. Goldfeld SR, Wright M, Oberklaid F. Parents, infants and health care: Utilization of health services in the first 12 months of life. *J Paediatr Child Health*. 2003;39(4):249-253. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1754.2003.00146.x
- 2.42. Hardy B, Ziliak JP. Decomposing trends in income volatility: The "wild ride" at the top and bottom. *Econ Inq.* 2014;52(1):459-476. doi:10.1111/ecin.12044
- 2.43. Keys B. Trends in Income and Consumption Volatility, 1970–2000. In: Jolliffe D, Ziliak J, eds. *Income Volatility and Food Assistance in the United States*. Kalamazoo, MI: Upjohn Institute; 2008:11-34.
- 2.44. Goldman AL, Sommers BD. Among Low-Income Adults Enrolled In Medicaid, Churning Decreased After The Affordable Care Act. *Health Aff.* 2020;39(1):85-93.

doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00378

- 2.45. Mccue MJ, Bailit MH. Assessing the Financial Health of Medicaid Managed Care Plans and the Quality of Patient Care They Provide.; 2011. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/sites/default/files/documents/\_\_\_media\_files\_public ations\_issue\_brief\_2011\_jun\_1511\_mccue\_assessing\_financial\_hlt\_medicaid\_managed\_c are\_plans\_ib\_final.pdf. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 2.46. Goldsmith J, Mosley D, Jacobs A. Medicaid Managed Care: Lots Of Unanswered Questions (Part 1). *Heal Aff Blog*. May 2018. doi:10.1377/hblog20180430.387981
- 2.47. Goldsmith J, Mosley D, Jacobs A. Medicaid Managed Care: Lots Of Unanswered Questions (Part 2). *Heal Aff Blog*. May 2018. doi:10.1377/hblog20180430.510086
- 2.48. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid services. National Health Expenditure Data: Historical. https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsHistorical.html. Published 2018.
- 2.49. Kass DI, Pautler PA. The Administrative Costs of Non-Profit Health Insurers. *Econ Inq*. 1981;19(3):515-521. doi:10.1111/j.1465-7295.1981.tb00334.x
- 2.50. Blair RD, Jackson JR, Vogel RJ. Economies of Scale in the Administration of Health Insurance. *Rev Econ Stat.* 1975;57(2):185. doi:10.2307/1924000
- 2.51. Glied S, Sacarny A. Is the US health care system wasteful and inefficient? A review of the evidence. *J Health Polit Policy Law*. 2018;43(5):739-765. doi:10.1215/03616878-6951103
- 2.52. Barrilleaux C, Rainey C. The politics of need: Examining governors' decisions to oppose the "obamacare" medicaid expansion. *State Polit Policy Q*. 2014;14(4):437-460. doi:10.1177/1532440014561644
  - 2.53. Jacobs LR, Callaghan T. Why states expand medicaid: Party, resources, and history. *J Health Polit Policy Law.* 2013;38(5):1023-1050. doi:10.1215/03616878-2334889.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

## EFFECTS OF MEDICAID EXPANSION ON STATE ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES

## Introduction

Medicaid was established in 1965 as a combined federal and state program to provide health insurance to low income individuals and has grown to become the largest insurance provider in the country.<sub>3.1</sub> States were given flexibility to design and administer their programs within federal limits and as such, Medicaid programs vary greatly especially through their eligibility criteria for various populations. For example, in 2009 just prior to the passage of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), the eligibility limit for parents ranged from 17% of the Federal Poverty Level (FPL) in Arkansas to 275% in Minnesota. 32 In 2010, the ACA originally included the requirement for all states to expand eligibility criteria for adults to up to 138% of the federal poverty line (FPL) or they would lose federal matching funding. In an effort to support expansion, the federal government would also initially cover all medical costs for newly eligible individuals in expansion states for the first several years. 33 After a supreme court case evaluating the constitutionality of requiring Medicaid expansion, it became optional for states. 34 Since the initial expansions in January of 2014, a total of 37 states including Washington, DC have expanded Medicaid. 35

Medicaid expansion has increased enrollment for both newly and previously eligible populations 3.6-3.8 which in turn has increased federal spending on Medicaid. 3.9 Although enrollment effects of expansion have been well-established in the literature, other outcomes including expenditures have been less studied. 3.7, 3.8 One recent study found that while Medicaid expansion increased total federal spending on Medicaid, the federal funding shielded states from significant adjustments to their budgets. 3.9 They also found no evidence that expansion negatively impacted other areas of state budgets such as education or transportation. 3.9 Two other studies of the financial implications of Medicaid expansion found increases in hospital revenue from

Medicaid 3.10 and lower levels of spending for newly eligible enrollees compared to those previously eligible. 3.11 While many of studies of the effects of expansion considered expansion dichotomously, a few studies use more nuanced measures of expansion by size and nature to better capture some of the variation in expansion approaches. 3.12–3.15 Findings from these studies that effects of expansion vary even among expansion states and by size and the nature of expansion highlight the need consider more granular measures of expansion. Despite the substantial body of evidence around the many effects of Medicaid expansion, no studies have yet considered the effects on administrative spending. This type of spending includes eligibility and enrollment assessments and processes and unlike medical expenditures was not differentially reimbursed in expansion states.

This study used a quasi-experimental approach to estimate the effect of Medicaid expansion on administrative costs. In addition, differences in effects of expansion by the type of expansion and the size of the expansion are considered. Findings from this study will help to better understand the financial implications of Medicaid expansion decisions and will be of interest to policymakers as they reflect on or consider future expansions as well as those considering other program modifications.

## Methods

This study used a generalized difference-in-differences (DID) approach in order to estimate the effects of Medicaid expansions on administrative costs.

## Population & Data

This study utilized administrative costs for all 50 states from 2007-2017 and will rely on data from a variety of public sources at the state-year level. Medicaid financial data was obtained from CMS Form 64 of state annual Medicaid expenditures. 3.16 Enrollment data was obtained from the Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF) 3.17, 3.18 and Medicaid reports. 3.19 Program characteristic data including expansion status and size of expansion were obtained from various KFF reports. 3.5, 3.20–3.23 State demographic, economic, and political characteristics are from the U.S. Census

Bureau, 3.24 American Community Survey, 3.25 Current Population Survey, 3.26 CDC WONDER, the National Governors Association, 3.27 and the National Association for State Budget Officers.

#### Measures

Dependent variables included the per-enrollee administrative expenditures and the percent of total expenditures that are administrative. Administrative expenditures are defined by CMS and are reported by each state annually. Per-enrollee estimates of administrative expenditures were calculated using state Medicaid enrollment from KFF reports for the month of June in years 2007-2013 and CMS's Medicaid Budgets & Expenditures System reports for years 2014-2017. All expenditures were adjusted to 2017 USD. While the data does change sources, it changes for all states in 2014 and does not differentially affect states based on expansion status. Additionally, upon review, enrollment trends appear to be smooth as the data transitions between these different sources. Due to a few state-year observations with improbable administrative spending values, we excluded the top and bottom one percentile of observations from the analysis.

The primary independent variable of interest is expansion status from KFF's Medicaid expansion tracker in a given state and year. While there are states that expanded early, these expansions were much smaller and are still considered to have implemented full expansions in 2014 or later. 3.29, 3.30 As in previous studies, only the main expansions were considered. 3.29, 3.30 A state-year observation was considered an expansion observation if expansion was implemented for at least half of the year in that state. More detail on expansion status by states can be found in Appendix C.

Other independent variables include a variety of state economic and demographic, political, and programmatic characteristics. State characteristics include unemployment rate from the Bureau of Labor and Statistics, birth rate (per 1,000) from CDC WONDER, and total population (in millions), percent of population with at least a bachelor's degree, percent of the population age 65 and older, percent of the population white, Black, all other races, and percent Hispanic from American Community Survey. Political characteristics include the governor's political affiliation from National Governor's Association rosters and the percent of the state budget spent on Medicaid from the National Association for State Budget Officers. Program characteristics include percent managed care enrollment, the Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) match rate, and the percent FPL eligibility criteria for parents all from KFF reports.

#### Analyses

A generalized DID approach was used to estimate the difference in the change in administrative expenditures for expansion states from before to after expansion compared to the change in administrative expenditures non-expansion states during the same time period. 3.31 Like the traditional DID, this approach is intended to estimate causal effects of an exogenous policy change, however, it builds upon the traditional DID in that it considers differences in the timing of the intervention across states using two-way fixed effects. 3.31 In order for this approach to be appropriate, the treatment (i.e. the expansion states) and control (i.e. non-expansion states) must exhibit parallel trends in the pre-intervention periods which was assessed both graphically and statistically. Parallel trends were assessed by estimating linear regressions for each measure of administrative spending with individual interaction terms between each year and a binary indicator for that state expanding during the study (Appendix D). The interaction between 2013 and expansion status was omitted as a reference as it was the last full year prior to the main expansions. Subsequently, a joint-F test was conducted to assess whether all pre-expansion yearexpansion interactions were jointly non-significant. Analyses used linear models of per-enrollee administrative expenditures and percent of total administrative expenditures that are administrative as a function of the contemporaneous expansion status, state, political, and programmatic characteristics.

In order to assess any differing effects due to variations in expansions, secondary analyses considered the use of 1115 demonstration waivers and the relative size of the expansions. Waivers allow states to modify their programs in ways that are outside of federal Medicaid regulations. Several states used 1115 waivers to expand their programs in ways that differed from the initial ACA provision, such as requiring premiums. Early evidence of some of these waiver expansions suggest that they may have differentially affected enrollment and have added additional requirements for the states to maintain enrollment 3.13, 3.15, 3.32 and therefore may affect administrative expenditures differently. Waiver states include Arkansas, Indiana, Iowa, Michigan, and Montana. Separate DID models considered waiver expansion states vs all nonexpansion states and separately, all ACA expansion states vs all non-expansion states.

Due to differences in eligibility criteria prior to expansion, we considered differences in the effects of expansion on administrative costs by the size of expansion. We used the uninsurance rate for the non-elderly, adult population below 100% FPL in the last full year prior to expansion from KFF 3.23 as a proxy for the potential size of the expansion as this whole population should have become eligible in expansion states. We then divided expansion states into either large or small expansions by being either above the median uninsurance rate for this population in the year prior to expansion among expansion states. Stratified models were used to consider expansion effects on administrative spending between large expansion states and all non-expansion states as well as small expansion states compared to all non-expansion states. More detail on expansion size can be found in Appendix E.

Additional sensitivity analyses were also conducted to ensure the robustness of the findings to analytic decisions. First, the main model was run with only the post-recession years included (2010 and beyond). Second, we considered lead and lag models to test the results and to assess whether there are either anticipatory or reactive effects of expansion on administrative expenditures. These models are the same as the main model, but with the expansion indicator changed to one year earlier (lead) or one year later (lag). Third, we reconsidered size of expansion

using the average uninsurance rate for the non-elderly, adult population below 100% FPL instead of the median. The only difference between these two measures of expansion size is whether North Dakota is considered large or small.

## Results

Expansion and non-expansion states exhibited similar trends in both measures of administrative spending the pre-expansion period (Figures 4 and 5). While expansion states have historically had higher per-enrollee administrative spending than non-expansion states, the percent of total spending that is administrative exhibits the opposite.



Figure 4. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by Expansion Status

Figure 5. Trends in Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative by Expansion Status



In addition to graphical assessment, formal tests of the parallel trends assumption required for DID approaches confirmed parallel trends in pre-expansion years for both measures of administrative spending. Full results from this analysis can be found in Appendix D.

On average, per-enrollee administrative spending in non-expansion states decreased \$35.60 after 2014 from \$444 to \$405 (Table 3). Expansion states generally exhibited a larger magnitude decrease in per-enrollee administrative spending compared to non-expansion states according to most expansion type and size classifications. The largest decrease in per-enrollee

administrative spending for a classification of expansion states was among states with large expansions who exhibited an average \$106 decrease after expansion from \$508 to \$402. States with small expansions experienced a slightly smaller decrease of \$21.

**Table 3.** Comparisons of Pre and Post Expansion Administrative Spending between Non 

 Expansion and Various Expansion Types

Population of States	Per-Enroll	er-Enrollee Administrative Spending (2017 USD)			Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative (%)			
I opulation of States	pre- expansion	post- expansion	unadjusted difference	pre- expansion	post- expansion	unadjusted difference		
Non-Expansion	444.11	408.51	-35.6	5.13	5.11	-0.02		
All Expansion	482.24	414.38	-67.86	5.04	4.91	-0.13		
Waiver Expansion	473.71	415.99	-57.72	5.15	5.07	-0.08		
ACA Expansion	484.54	414.04	-70.5	5.01	4.87	-0.14		
Large Expansion	507.84	401.48	-106.36	5.52	5.05	-0.47		
Small Expansion	449.98	428.99	-20.99	4.41	4.74	0.33		

Changes in the percent of total spending that is administrative show similar differences from pre- to post-expansion. Non-expansion states had a slight decrease from 5.13% of total spending being administrative before 2014 to 5.11% after 2014. Unadjusted pre-to-post comparisons for most populations of expansion states again exhibited larger decreases however there was an increase in the percent of spending that is administrative for states that had a small expansion from 4.41% to 4.74%. Notably, states with small expansions also began with spending a lower proportion of total spending on administration than both non-expansion states and all other classifications of expansion states.

Results from the main, adjusted DID analysis comparing all expansion states to nonexpansion states showed a slightly lower but non-significant difference in the change in perenrollee administrative spending in expansion states compared to non-expansion (Table 4). Separate comparisons of states that expanded using a waiver to non-expansion states and ACA expansion to non-expansion states also suggest no significant effect of expansion on per-enrollee administrative spending.

Effects of expansion when stratifying by expansion size depict different effects. When compared to non-expansion states, states with large expansions experienced a significantly greater reduction in per-enrollee administrative spending of \$77 (p-value: 0.048). In contrast, states with small expansions exhibited a modest increase in per-enrollee administrative spending after expansion compared to non-expansion states (coef: \$50.56, p-value: 0.080). Full results from these analyses can be found in Appendix F.

**Table 4.** Adjusted DID Regression Results for Effects of Expansion on Administrative Spending

Model Comparison		Effect of Exp Enrollee Admir U	ansion on Per- n Spending (2017 SD)	Effect of Expansion on Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative (%)		
		coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	
MAIN MODEL	All expansion vs non- expansion	-12.37	0.651	0.12	0.567	
Stratified Models	Waiver expansion vs non-expansion	-19.09	0.683	0.09	0.836	
	ACA expansion vs non- expansion	-10.99	0.704	0.10	0.664	
	Large expansion vs non- expansion	-77.08	0.048	-0.41	0.127	
	Small expansion vs non- expansion	50.56	0.080	0.66	0.009	

**Note**: Results are from generalized difference-in-differences models using two-way state and year fixed effects and robust standard errors clustered at the state level. All analyses control for the state demographic, economic, political, and programmatic characteristics described. Results from the full models can be found in Appendix F. Observations with administrative spending values in the top and bottom 1 percentile were omitted from the analysis.

The main analysis comparing changes in the percent of total spending that is administrative between all expansion and non-expansion states after expansion show a nonsignificant increase (coef: 0.12 percentage points, p-value 0.567). Similarly, expansion showed no effect on this measure of administrative spending when comparing either waiver expansion states or ACA expansion states to non-expansion states. States with large expansions exhibited a non-significant reduction in percent of spending on administration compared to non-expansion states, however states with small expansions showed a significant increase in this measure after expansion compared to non-expansion states (coef: 0.66 percentage points, p-value: 0.009).

Additional models considering only the post-recession time period (2010-2017), anticipatory effects of expansion, and reactive effects also show no significant effect of expansion on either measure of administrative spending (Appendix G).

There are slight differences between results when the average uninsurance rate preexpansion is used to model the size of the expansion instead of the median as presented, but only for per-enrollee administrative spending. In the median cutoff model presented earlier, states with large expansions had significant reductions in administrative spending compared to nonexpansion states post-expansion (coef: -77.08, p-value: 0.048). When the average cutoff is used to differentiate states with small and large expansions, there is a more modest decrease for states with large expansions (coef: -66.95, p-value: 0.077). Additionally, there was a modest increase in per-enrollee administrative spending for states with small expansions compared to non-expansion when using the median cutoff (coef: 50.57, p-value: 0.080) but models using the average cutoff show a significant increase (coef: 58.61, p-value 0.028).

## Discussion

Using a quasi-experimental design, our study found limited effects of Medicaid expansion on Medicaid administrative spending. More specifically, there is no statistically significant effect of expansion when considering all expansion states, waiver expansion states only, or ACA expansion states only relative to all non-expansion states. However, statistically significant differences are observed when the size of the expansion is considered. There is modest evidence suggesting states with large expansions saw reductions in administrative costs after expansion relative to non-expansion states while states with small expansions incurred increases in administrative costs after expansion.

Findings from this study contribute to the growing body of rigorous evidence of the effects of Medicaid expansion including increased access to care, health status, reduced mortality, and financial implications. 3.7, 3.8, 3.33, 3.34 In addition, a few studies have begun to consider more nuanced variations in Medicaid programs beyond simple expansion or not, 3.13–3.15, 3.32, 3.35 and findings from our study reinforce the need for such approaches.

There are many possible reasons for this difference in effect by expansion size. States with larger expansions may experience economies of scale, where it becomes less expensive and they become more efficient as more individuals are enrolled in the program. Early work across commercial health insurance and Medicare provide some evidence that various components of health insurance administrative expenditures may benefit from economies of scale, however not all studies find economies of scale. 3.36–3.38

The increase in administrative spending in small expansion states after expansion compared to non-expansion states may be driven by different reasons. First, reimbursement rates for Medicaid vary geographically by region and expansion decisions and size is also more common in certain regions. In addition, states with small expansions have generally had more generous Medicaid programs. 3.35 It is important to note that differences in administrative expenditures alone does not assess the efficiency or effectiveness of those administrative dollars. States with higher administrative spending may be either unnecessarily spending more or achieving more with each dollar. Future research is needed to understand the implications of administrative spending on enrollment.

Additionally, while 36 states and Washington, DC have implemented Medicaid expansion after the ACA, the remaining states have yet to expand. Historically, expansion decisions have largely been driven by state politics and interest groups, rather than need. 3.39–3.42 However, there appears to be increasing support from previously reluctant states. 3.43, 3.44 On average, the states that have not expanded would have large expansions as they generally have low eligibility thresholds for parents, childless adults are not eligible, and they have high

uninsurance rates. 3.45, 3.46 Findings from our study suggest they may be more likely to see greater reductions in administrative costs in terms of per-enrollee administrative spending and percent of Medicaid spending that is administrative. As states that have not expanded continue to be consider expansion, 3.5 the growing body of evidence that expansion has beneficial effects on access to care, some measures of health, and potential financial benefits is important to consider. Limitations

This is the first study to assess the effects of Medicaid expansion on administrative spending, however it is not without limitations. First, main results consider the effects of expansion on these two measures of administrative spending but cannot assess the efficiency or appropriateness of spending. Second, most expansions were implemented in 2014 during the same year which many other provisions of the ACA were being implemented. These could be contributing to some of our results, but only if other ACA provisions are happening differentially in expansion and non-expansion states.

## Conclusions

In summary, our study provides rigorous evidence on the effects of Medicaid expansion on administrative expenditures. More specifically, it appears as though states were largely able to expand Medicaid without differentially affecting administrative spending compared to nonexpansion states with the exception of small expansion states. Findings from this study may better inform discussions within states considering additional modifications to their Medicaid programs, particularly those that would have a large potential expansion. Additionally, our study provides additional evidence that variations across expansions may be important to consider in order to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the effects.

## References

- 3.1. Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of the Total Population: 2017. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/totalpopulation/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22 sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Published 2019. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 3.2. Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation. Medicaid Income Eligibility Limits for Parents, 2002-2019. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-income-eligibility-limits-for-parents/?currentTimeframe=0&selectedDistributions=january-2009&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22January
  2009%22,%22sort%22:%22desc%22%7D#notes. Published 2019. Accessed August 22, 2019.
- 3.3. MACPAC. State and federal spending under the ACA. https://www.macpac.gov/subtopic/state-and-federal-spending-under-the-aca/.
- 3.4. Rosenbaum S, Westmoreland TM. The Supreme Court's Surprising Decision On The Medicaid Expansion: How Will The Federal Government And States Proceed? *Health Aff*. 2012;31(8):1663-1672. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.0766
- 3.5. The Henry J Kaiser Family Foundation. Status of State Medicaid Expansion Decisions. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/status-of-state-medicaid-expansion-decisionsinteractive-map/. Published 2019. Accessed August 22, 2019.
- 3.6. Frean M, Gruber J, Sommers BD. Premium subsidies, the mandate, and Medicaid expansion: Coverage effects of the Affordable Care Act. *J Health Econ*. 2017;53:72-86. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.02.004
- 3.7. Antonisse L, Garfield R, Rudowitz R, Artiga S. *The Effects of Medicaid Expansion under the ACA: Updated Findings from a Literature Review.*; 2018. http://files.kff.org/attachment/Issue-Brief-The-Effects-of-Medicaid-Expansion-Under-the-ACA-Updated-Findings-from-a-Literature-Review. Accessed August 5, 2019.

- 3.8. Mazurenko O, Balio CP, Agarwal R, Carroll AE, Menachemi N. The Effects Of Medicaid Expansion Under The ACA: A Systematic Review. *Health Aff.* 2018;37(6):944-950. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1491
- 3.9. Sommers BD, Gruber J. Federal Funding Insulated State Budgets From Increased Spending Related To Medicaid Expansion. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(5):938-944.
   doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1666
- 3.10. Blavin F. Association Between the 2014 Medicaid Expansion and US Hospital Finances.JAMA. 2016;316(14):1475. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.14765
- 3.11. Jacobs PD, Kenney GM, Selden TM. Newly Eligible Enrollees In Medicaid Spend Less And Use Less Care Than Those Previously Eligible. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(9):1637-1642. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0252
- 3.12. McMorrow S, Gates JA, Long SK, Kenney GM. Medicaid Expansion Increased Coverage, Improved Affordability, And Reduced Psychological Distress For Low-Income Parents. *Health Aff.* 2017;36(5):808-818. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.1650
- 3.13. Freedman S, Richardson L, Simon KI. Learning From Waiver States: Coverage Effects Under Indiana's HIP Medicaid Expansion. *Health Aff.* 2018;37(6):936-943. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1596
- 3.14. Garthwaite C, Graves J, Gross T, Karaca Z, Marone V, Notowidigdo MJ. All Medicaid expansions are not created equal: The geography and targeting of the Affordable Care Act. In: *BPEA Conference Draft, Fall.*; 2019. https://www.brookings.edu/bpea-articles/allmedicaid-expansions-are-not-created-equal-the-geography-and-targeting-of-theaffordable-care-act/amp/?\_\_twitter\_impression=true. Accessed September 16, 2019.
- 3.15. Goldman AL, Sommers BD. Among Low-Income Adults Enrolled In Medicaid, Churning Decreased After The Affordable Care Act. *Health Aff.* 2020;39(1):85-93. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00378
- 3.16. Medicaid.gov. Expenditure Reports From MBES/CBES.

https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/finance/state-expenditure-reporting/expenditure-reports/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.

- 3.17. Ellis ER, Roberts D, Rousseau DM, Schwartz T. Medicaid Enrollment in 50 States: June 2008 Data Update.; 2009. https://www.kff.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/7606-04.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.18. Snyder L, Rudowitz R, Ellis E, Roberts D. Medicaid Enrollment: June 2013 Data Snapshot.; 2014. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaid-enrollment-june-2013-data-snapshot/view/print/. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.19. Medicaid.gov. Medicaid Enrollment Data Collected Through MBES. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/program-information/medicaid-and-chip-enrollmentdata/enrollment-mbes/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.20. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Total Medicaid MCO Enrollment (2003-2017). https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/total-medicaid-mcoenrollment/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22 sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.21. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid and Multiplier (2004-2020). https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rate-and-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22s ort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.22. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Medicaid Income Eligibility Limits for Parents, 2002-2019. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-income-eligibilitylimits-for-

parents/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort %22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.

3.23. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Insurance Coverage of Adults 19-64

Living in Poverty (under 100% FPL). https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/pooradults/?currentTimeframe=0&selectedDistributions=uninsured&sortModel=%7B%22colI d%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed March 4, 2020.

- 3.24. US Census Bureau. *Census Regions and Divisions of the United States*. https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/maps-data/maps/reference/us\_regdiv.pdf.
- 3.25. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey (ACS). https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs.
- 3.26. US Census Bureau. Current Population Survey (CPS). https://www.census.gov/programssurveys/cps.html.
- 3.27. National Governors Association. Governors' Rosters (1988-2018) Historical List of Governors by Year in Office. https://www.nga.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/03/Governors-Historical-Rosters.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.28. National Association of State Budget Officers. Archive of State Expenditure Reports. https://www.nasbo.org/reports-data/state-expenditure-report/state-expenditure-archives. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 3.29. Soni A, Hendryx M, Simon K. Medicaid Expansion Under the Affordable Care Act and Insurance Coverage in Rural and Urban Areas. J Rural Heal. 2017;33(2):217-226. doi:10.1111/jrh.12234
- 3.30. Simon K, Soni A, Cawley J. The Impact of Health Insurance on Preventive Care and Health Behaviors: Evidence from the First Two Years of the ACA Medicaid Expansions. *J Policy Anal Manag.* 2017;36(2):390-417. doi:10.1002/pam.21972
- 3.31. Wing C, Simon K, Bello-Gomez RA. Designing Difference in Difference Studies: Best Practices for Public Health Policy Research Keywords. *Annu Rev Public Heal*. 2018;39:453-469. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth
- 3.32. Sommers BD, Fry CE, Blendon RJ, Epstein AM. New Approaches In Medicaid: Work Requirements, Health Savings Accounts, And Health Care Access. *Health Aff*.

2018;37(7):1099-1108. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2018.0331

- 3.33. Soni A, Wherry LR, Simon KI. How Have ACA Insurance Expansions Affected Health Outcomes? Findings From The Literature. *Health Aff.* 2020;39(3):371-378. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01436
- 3.34. Miller S, Altekruse S, Johnson N, Wherry L. Medicaid and Mortality: New Evidence from Linked Survey and Administrative Data. NBER Work Pap Ser. July 2019. doi:10.3386/w26081
- 3.35. Denham A, Veazie P. Did Medicaid Expansion Matter in States with Generous Medicaid? *Am J Manag Care*. 2019;25(3):129-134. www.ajmc.com. Accessed March 5, 2020.
- 3.36. Glied S, Sacarny A. Is the US health care system wasteful and inefficient? A review of the evidence. *J Health Polit Policy Law*. 2018;43(5):739-765. doi:10.1215/03616878-6951103
- 3.37. Kass DI, Pautler PA. The Administrative Costs of Non-Profit Health Insurers. *Econ Inq*. 1981;19(3):515-521. doi:10.1111/j.1465-7295.1981.tb00334.x
- 3.38. Blair RD, Jackson JR, Vogel RJ. Economies of Scale in the Administration of Health Insurance. *Rev Econ Stat.* 1975;57(2):185. doi:10.2307/1924000
- 3.39. Rocco P, Keller AC, Kelly AS. State Politics And The Uneven Fate Of Medicaid Expansion. *Health Aff.* 2020;39(3):494-501. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2019.01414
- 3.40. Barrilleaux C, Rainey C. The politics of need: Examining governors' decisions to oppose the "obamacare" medicaid expansion. *State Polit Policy Q*. 2014;14(4):437-460. doi:10.1177/1532440014561644
- 3.41. Jacobs LR, Callaghan T. Why states expand medicaid: Party, resources, and history. *J Health Polit Policy Law.* 2013;38(5):1023-1050. doi:10.1215/03616878-2334889
- 3.42. Callaghan T, Jacobs LR. Interest group conflict over medicaid expansion: The surprising impact of public advocates. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(2):308-313. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302943

- 3.43. Fishman E, Weissfeld J. Medicaid Policy And Partisan Politics: A New Dynamic. *Heal Aff Blog.* October 2019.
  https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20191015.597909/full/. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 3.44. Ollove M. The Politics of Medicaid Expansion Have Changed. *The Pew Charitable Trusts*. https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2019/11/13/the-politics-of-medicaid-expansion-have-changed. Published November 13, 2019. Accessed March 4, 2020.
- 3.45. Garfield R, Orgera K, Damico A. The Coverage Gap: Uninsured Poor Adults in States That Do Not Expand Medicaid.; 2014. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/thecoverage-gap-uninsured-poor-adults-in-states-that-do-not-expand-medicaid/. Accessed March 5, 2020.
- 3.46. Haley J, Zuckerman S, Karpman M, Long S, Bart L, Aarons J. Adults' Uninsurance Rates Increased By 2018, Especially In States That Did Not Expand Medicaid—Leaving Gaps In Coverage, Access, And Affordability. *Heal Aff Blog*. September 2018. https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20180924.928969/full/. Accessed March 5, 2020.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

# EFFECTS OF EXPRESS LANE ELIGIBILITY ON MEDICAID ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURES

## Introduction

Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) provide insurance coverage for nearly 36 million children in the US,4.1 yet 5% of children were uninsured nationally in 2017.2 State-level child uninsurance rates ranged from 1% in Massachusetts to 11% in Texas. 4.2 Historically, over half of children that are uninsured are eligible for Medicaid or CHIP in their states but remain uninsured due to enrollment barriers and lapses between coverage as eligibility changes. 4.3-4.6 Numerous recent efforts, including the Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2009 (CHIPRA), have attempted to support enrollment and insurance coverage for children. 4.6 One change included in CHIPRA was federal support of Express Lane Eligibility (ELE). This program allows for state agencies other than Medicaid and/or CHIP to identify children who are potentially eligible for Medicaid or CHIP. State agencies which may serve as partners for ELE include the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), the National School Lunch Program (NSLP), and state tax agencies. 4.7 It was anticipated that in addition to streamlining child health insurance enrollment, ELE may also result in administrative savings. 4.8, 4.9 In 2016, 14 states had some form of ELE in place. 4.10

CHIPRA provides states with great flexibility in designing their own ELE processes. ELE programs vary in terms of use within Medicaid and/or CHIP, with which other state agencies are involved, whether ELE is used for preliminary determinations and/or redetermination, and the use of automatic enrollment. 4.8, 4.13, 4.14 As an optional and novel program with varying structures, CHIPRA required that ELE programs be subject to evaluations. These evaluations and subsequent additional evidence have identified differences in the effectiveness of ELE programs by state and ELE structure. 4.8–4.10, 4.15 Overall, ELE resulted in a widespread increase in enrollment across ELE implementation states, with the greatest enrollment gains among states with automated systems rather than simplified applications or procedures. 4.8, 4.9, 4.15-4.18 While it is clear that there are enrollment gains associated with ELE, administrative savings appear to be less consistently considered, have somewhat mixed results, and analyses and data contain limitations. 4.8-4.10 More specifically, one of the required evaluations found cost savings for states with automated enrollment through ELE, however those with simplified applications or processes did not experience these same gains. 4.8 In addition, there are initial costs to implementing automated enrollment but recurring costs for those with simplified approaches. 4.8 Studies that consider effects of ELE on administrative costs identify limitations of these data and analyses including a short follow up period, relying on qualitative assessments and limited available data, are often subject to recall bias, and inability to consider more recent ELE implementations. 4.7-4.9, 4.15

The purpose of this study is to estimate the effects of ELE on Medicaid administrative costs. We will exploit variation in implementation of any ELE as well as variation among ELE programs such as by the use of automatic enrollment and use for initial determination or redeterminations. This study will improve upon previous work by considering additional years of data, new state ELE implementations that have not been included in previous studies, and considering objective administrative costs, an outcome that has been rare in prior studies. Findings from this study will be of interest to state and federal policy makers involved in Medicaid and CHIP program design, those interested in children's access to health insurance, and the continued political dialogue about the US healthcare system at large, including the emphasis on value, cost, and efficiency.

## Methods

This study used a quasi-experimental design with data from all 50 states from 2007-2017 in order to estimate the effects of ELE on child enrollment and administrative costs.

Population & Data

Medicaid administrative expenditures were compiled from CMS form 64 which reflects annual expenditures, divided into medical and administrative spending. 4.19 ELE data was compiled from various sources including the CMS ELE tracker, 4.20 state Medicaid Plan Amendments, 4.21 and the 2016 Office of the Inspector General Report. 4.10 State demographic and economic characteristics were obtained from American Community Survey, 4.22 Current Population Survey, 4.23 US Census Bureau, 4.24 and CDC WONDER. 4.25 Political characteristics were obtained from the National Governors Association4.26 and National Association of State Budget Officers. 4.27 Medicaid and CHIP program characteristics will be obtained from various KFF reports. 4.28-4.30

## Measures

Dependent variables include two measures of administrative spending; per-enrollee administrative spending and the percent of total spending that is administrative. All spending values were adjusted to 2017 USD. State year observations in the top and bottom 1 percentile of each of these measures were removed from analyses as they represent implausible values.

The primary independent variable will be the use of ELE within a state-year observation. Additional analyses will use ELE approach instead, characterized by ELE use for preliminary determination or redetermination, and automatic enrollment, simplified application, or simplified process. Due to some differences in ELE implementation characteristics and dates across sources, four state-year observations were excluded because of unreconcilable differences. A more detailed description of ELE data can be found in Appendix H.

Control variables will include state demographic, economic, political, and programmatic characteristics. These characteristics were selected because of their known associations with Medicaid expenditures and enrollment. Demographic characteristics will include the total population of the state, percent of the state that are above 65, number of live births per 1,000 as a measure of growth for the state. Economic characteristics will include the poverty and

unemployment rates. Political characteristics will include the political affiliation of the governor and percent of the state budget spent on Medicaid. Programmatic characteristics will include eligibility criteria for parents as a measure of program generosity, the match rate for medical expenditures, and Medicaid expansion status after the Affordable Care Act.

#### Analyses

In order to estimate the effects of differently timed ELE implementations, we will use a generalized difference-in-differences (DID) approach to compare the change in administrative spending and enrollment in states that implemented ELE compared to those who did not. This approach uses two-way fixed effects in order to address the differences in timing of the intervention across states. Analyses will include previously described state demographic, economic, political, and programmatic characteristics as covariates in the models. A total of four models were included; the first set will estimate the effect of ELE overall on each of the two expenditure measures and the second set of analyses will consider the effect of specific ELE approaches commonly used by states for each of the expenditures measures. Sensitivity analyses were conducted to consider differences in ELE implementation data across sources as well as to exclude years post Medicaid expansions to ensure expansion decisions or implementations were not driving any results of the effects of ELE.

Because early evidence of ELE suggested there may be an initial increase in administrative spending to implement the program followed by an expected decrease, we also consider changes in the effect overtime. However, due to the variation that exists in ELE approach and the relatively few state-years with each ELE approach type, consideration of the non-linear effects of implementing ELE will be presented descriptively.

## Results

During our study period, 10 states implemented some form of ELE in their Medicaid programs (Alabama, Colorado, Georgia, Iowa, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, Oregon, and South Carolina, Table 5). Of those, 4 included some form of automated enrollment

and 2 used ELE for both initial and redeterminations. The most common ELE partnering agency was SNAP followed by TANF. The two most common ELE approaches were a simplified process or procedure for initial determinations (n=33 state-year observations) and automated ELE for both initial and redeterminations (n=12 state-year observations). No other ELE approach represented more than 10 state-year observations and thus all other ELE approaches were categorized as 'other ELE approach' (n=21 state-year observations).

State	Description of ELE Approach				
Alabama	<ul> <li>Simplified for initial determinations with SNAP &amp; TANF starting in 2010</li> <li>Simplified for redeterminations with SNAP &amp; TANF starting in 2009, transitions to automated in 2013</li> </ul>				
Colorado	• Automated for initial determinations with NSLP starting in 2013				
Georgia	• Simplified for initial determinations with WIC starting in 2011, ends in 2016				
Iowa	• Simplified for initial determinations with SNAP starting in 2010				
Louisiana	<ul> <li>Automated for initial determinations with SNAP starting in 2010</li> <li>Automated for redeterminations with SNAP starting in 2010</li> </ul>				
Maryland	<ul> <li>Simplified for initial determinations with state tax agency starting in 2008</li> <li>Unclear if stopped in 2016-2017, these years excluded from analysis</li> </ul>				
Massachusetts	• Automated for redeterminations with SNAP starting in 2012				
New Jersey	<ul><li>Simplified for initial determinations with state tax agency starting in 2009</li><li>NSLP added in 2011</li></ul>				
Oregon	<ul> <li>Simplified for initial determinations with SNAP starting in 2010</li> <li>Unclear if stopped in 2016-2017, these years excluded from analysis</li> </ul>				
South Carolina	<ul> <li>Automated for initial determinations with SNAP and TANF starting in 2012</li> <li>Automated for redeterminations with SNAP and TANF starting in 2011</li> </ul>				

 Table 5. Descriptions of ELE Approach by State

There are some differences in economic, demographic, political, and programmatic

characteristics between states with ELE compared to those without and as such, all characteristics considered were included in regression models (Table 6).

**Table 6.** Descriptive Statistics for States with no ELE Compared to Any ELE During the Study

Period

	No ELI	E	Any EL	p-value	
	(n=451	)	(n=110)		
	mean or count	SD or %	mean or count	SD or %	
Per-Enrollee Admin Spending	457.87	180.08	410.53	180.22	0.014
Percent of Total Spending Admin	5.13	1.54	4.69	1.21	0.005
Percent Managed Care	71.2	24.4	79.4	14.3	< 0.001
Expanded Medicaid	93	20.60%	26	23.60%	0.49
FMAP Match Rate	61.6	8.9	61.1	9.2	0.61
Parental Eligibility Policy %FPL	95.7	59.13	89.2	50.3	0.29
Percent of State Spending on Medicaid	23.0	6.8	21.2	3.7	0.009
Governor Democrat/Other	214	47.50%	48	43.60%	0.47
Unemployment Rate	6.2	2.2	6.5	2.1	0.24
Percent Bachelor's Degree or Above	28.6	5.9	30.7	6.5	0.001
Total Population millions	6.3	7.7	5.8	2.1	0.51
Percent Population Male	49.4	0.8	49.0	0.6	< 0.001
Birth Rate per 1,000	12.9	1.8	12.6	1.1	0.085
Percent Population Age 65+	14.2	2.1	13.8	1.7	0.1
Percent Population White	78.0	13.9	72.8	11.1	< 0.001
Percent Population Black	9.6	9.9	17.6	12.2	< 0.001
Percent Population Other	12.5	11.8	9.6	4.4	0.013
Percent Population Hispanic	11.1	10.7	9.7	5.7	0.17

**NOTE:** Table shows descriptive comparisons of variables for states that never implement ELE in the study period and those that implement ELE at some point between 2007-2017. Table presents means of continuous variables with standard deviations and counts of categorical variables with percentages. Statistical significance in differences between non-ELE and ELE states from bivariate analyses is shown with p-values.

At the beginning of the study period, per-enrollee administrative expenditures were similar for states who never implemented ELE compared to those who eventually implemented some form of ELE (Figure 6). On average, per-enrollee administrative expenditures in 2007 were \$487 for states that never implemented ELE and \$477 for states who implemented ELE sometime after 2007 (both adjusted to 2017 USD). Over the study period, there was an average decrease in per-enrollee expenditures for both states with ELE and states without, however there was a greater decrease in states with some form of ELE.



Figure 6. Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by Ever ELE Status

some point than those who never implemented ELE for all years of the study period (Figure 7).





Using the most general measure of any ELE, regression results estimate no effect of any ELE on per-enrollee spending (coef: -10.80, p-value: 0.58, Table 7). When considering the ELE approach (none, simplified for initial determinations, automated for both initial and redeterminations, and other ELE) there is a significant decrease in per-enrollee spending after simplified for initial determinations was implemented (coef: -45.54, p-value 0.007). In contrast, there are significant increases after implementing automated ELE for both initial and redeterminations (coef: 66.17, p-value: 0.001). There is no effect of other ELE approaches on per-enrollee spending approaches (coef: 14.84, p-value: 0.509).

	PER-ENROLLEE ADMIN SPENDING MODELS				PERG	CENT OF T ADMIN	TOTAL SPENDING N MODELS			
	MODEL 1		MOI	MODEL 2 M		MODEL 3		MODEL 4		
	Any ELE		ELE approach		Any ELE		ELE approach			
	coef	p-value	coef	p-value	coef	p-value	coef	p-value		
ELE active										
No ELE	ref	ref			ref	ref				
Any ELE	-10.80	0.575			0.36	0.060				
ELE Approach										
No/pre-ELE			ref	ref			ref	ref		
Simplified, initial			-45.54	0.007			-0.03	0.841		
Auto, both			66.17	0.001			1.32	< 0.001		
Other ELE			14.84	0.509			0.54	0.004		

Table 7. Regression Results for Effects of ELE on Administrative Spending

**Note**: All regression models include state and year fixed effects, state-clustered standard errors, and controls for demographic, economic, political, and programmatic, characteristics. Full regression results can be found in Appendix I.

Findings from the regression model for the percent of total spending that is administrative estimate a non-significant increase in effect of any ELE coef: 0.36, p-value: 0.06). There was a significant increase in percent of total spending that is administrative after implementation of automated ELE for both initial and redeterminations (coef: 1.32, p-value: <0.001) as well as for other ELE approaches (coef: 0.54, p-value: 0.004) compared to no ELE. There is no effect of simplified ELE for initial determinations compared to no ELE (coef: -0.03, p-value 0.841). Results from sensitivity analyses are largely consistent with the main models presented here. Findings from sensitivity analyses can be found in Appendix J.

In order to further investigate differences in the effects of ELE by approach and over time, we summarize average spending in each year post-ELE implementation by ELE type (Figures 8 and 9). All ELE types appear to see a slight increase after implementation followed by a decrease for both measures of administrative spending.

Figure 8. Post-ELE Implementation Trends in Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending by ELE





Figure 9. Post-ELE Implementation Trends in Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative





## Discussion

Previous work has identified greater enrollment in Medicaid and CHIP as a result of ELE, however the effects on administrative spending appear mixed and less frequently studied. 4.8, 4.9, 4.15-4.18 The current study builds off of the existing evidence of consider nuances of ELE for a longer time frame. Our study finds that while there is no overall effect of ELE on administrative spending, implementing ELE in various ways may result in greater increased administrative spending.

In early reports assessing the impacts of ELE, the use of automated enrollment was found to be associated with the greatest cost savings however it required start-up costs to implement. 4.8, 4.10 Our regression findings generally align where automated ELE for both initial and redeterminations is associated with increases in administrative spending.

Importantly, while our findings overall identify either no effect of ELE on administrative spending or increases in administrative spending which are contradictory to previous work and the anticipated effects of the program, it should be noted that states with ELE in any form have lower administrative spending than states with no ELE. Even with some significant increases in administrative spending after ELE, states with automated ELE for both initial and redeterminations have among the lowest administrative spending in the post period. In addition, after ELE implementation, there appears to be a pattern of increased administrative sending followed by a decrease for all ELE approaches. This may reflect earlier findings that there is an initial investment required in order to achieve savings relating to ELE.

Findings from the current study not only contribute to our understanding of the ELE program overall but underscore the need to evaluate Medicaid program modifications in a thorough way. With such vast approaches to ELE it is likely that heterogeneous effects occur and it is critical to understand them in order to make future decisions about these programs. In addition, this is one of many recent options to promote collaborations between Medicaid and other state agencies. For example, Massachusetts, New York, and Alabama have implemented ELE for parents through an 1115 waiver. 4.10 Other examples include Medicaid agencies across the country working with corrections departments to help facilitate enrollment after release 4.31, 4.32 and Texas Medicaid is partnering with the public health agency. 4.33 If Medicaid continues to be encouraged to work in partnership other agencies to better assess individual and population health and wellbeing, understanding how Medicaid can best do so and in what contexts will be invaluable to its success.

## Limitations

This study is not without limitations. First, the study uses only two measures of administrative spending that are only available at the state-year level and may contain error. However, this data is used by CMS to understand and reimburse for administrative spending and thus is valuable even given data limitations. Second, these measures of administrative spending are at the full Medicaid program level and are not specific to children. As such, they are likely to be less sensitive to changes for this specific population. Third, our study does not incorporate changes in child enrollment specifically as a result of ELE. As previous studies have found, there are differences in how effective various states have been in using ELE to enroll children and our study does not provide this measure of effectiveness of these changes of administrative spending. Finally, there are many ways in which states can implement ELE and our data includes states that have done so in a variety of ways. Because there are many combinations in ELE approaches relative to the number of ELE, we may be missing important effects that are unable to be detected in the sample. We do our best to assess these variations using various modeling approaches and descriptive statistics.

## Conclusions

ELE was initially touted as a mechanism which would streamline child enrollment into Medicaid and CHIP. Our findings suggest that there may be some increases in administrative spending as a result of various implementations of ELE, however states that have any form of ELE in place on average still have lower administrative spending after ELE implementation increases. In addition, previous work showing the increases in enrollment after ELE suggest the program is meeting an important and intended goal.
#### References

- 4.1. KFF. Monthly Child Enrollment in Medicaid and CHIP: December 2017. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/total-medicaid-and-chip-childenrollment/?currentTimeframe=18&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%2 2sort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 4.2. KFF. Health Insurance Coverage of Children 0-18, 2017. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/children-018/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Uninsured%22,%22sort%2
  2:%22desc%22%7D. Accessed September 29, 2019.
- 4.3. Kenney GM, Haley JM, Pan C, Lynch V, Buettgens M. Medicaid/CHIP Participation Rates Rose among Children and Parents in 2015.; 2017. http://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/90346/2001264-medicaid-chippariticipation-rates-rose-among-children-and-parents-in-2015\_1.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.4. Kenney GM, Lynch V, Cook A, Phong S. Who And Where Are The Children Yet To Enroll In Medicaid And The Children's Health Insurance Program? *Health Aff.* 2010;29(10):1920-1929. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0747
- 4.5. Sommers BD. Why Millions Of Children Eligible For Medicaid And SCHIP Are Uninsured: Poor Retention Versus Poor Take-Up. *Health Aff.* 2007;26(Suppl2):w560w567. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.26.5.w560
- 4.6. Sebelius K. Rising To The Challenge: Tools For Enrolling Eligible Children In Health Coverage. *Health Aff.* 2010;29(10):1930-1932. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0852
- 4.7. Harrington ME. The Children's Health Insurance Program Reauthorization Act Evaluation Findings on Children's Health Insurance Coverage in an Evolving Health Care Landscape.
   Acad Pediatr. 2015;15(3):S1-S6. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2015.03.007
- 4.8. Hoag S, Swinburn A, Orzol S, et al. CHIPRA Mandated Evaluation of Express Lane

*Eligibility: Final Findings*.; 2013. https://www.mathematica.org/our-publications-and-findings/publications/chipra-mandated-evaluation-of-express-lane-eligibility-final-findings. Accessed September 28, 2019.

- 4.9. Hoag S, Orzol S, Colby M, et al. CHIPRA Mandated Evaluation of Express Lane Eligibility: First Year Findings. Princeton, NJ; 2012. https://www.mathematicampr.com/our-publications-and-findings/publications/chipra-mandated-evaluation-ofexpress-lane-eligibility-first-year-findings. Accessed June 20, 2019.
- 4.10. Murrin S. STATE USE OF EXPRESS LANE ELIGIBILITY FOR MEDICAID AND CHIP ENROLLMENT.; 2016. https://oig.hhs.gov/oei/reports/oei-06-15-00410.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.11. Brooks T. States Could Lose Cost-Effective Express Lane Eligibility if Congress Fails to extend CHIP Promptly. 2017. https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2017/09/13/states-could-losecost-effective-express-lane-eligibility-without-chip-renewal/. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.12. Brooks T. CHIP Funding Has Been Extended, What's Next For Children's Health Coverage? *Heal Blog.* 2018. doi:10.1377/hblog20180130.116879
- 4.13. Morrow B, Artiga S. Building an Express Lane Eligibility Initiative: A Roadmap of Key Decisions for States.; 2010. https://www.kff.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/8043.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.14. Dorn Stan. Express Lane Eligibility and Beyond: How Automated Enrollment Can Help Eligible Children Receive Medicaid and CHIP.; 2009.
  https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/30306/411879-Express-Lane-Eligibility-and-Beyond-How-Automated-Enrollment-Can-Help-Eligible-Children-Receive-Medicaid-and-CHIP.PDF. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.15. Hoag SD. Spotlight on Express Lane Eligibility (ELE): A Tool to Improve Enrollment and Renewal. Acad Pediatr. 2015;15(3):S28-S35. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2015.02.010

- 4.16. Dorn S, Hill I, Adams F. Louisiana Breaks New Ground: The Nation's First Use of Automatic Enrollment Through Express Lane Eligibility.; 2012. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/266822618. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.17. Blavin F, Kenney GM, Huntress M. An Early Look at the Impact of Express Lane Eligibility on Medicaid and Children's Health Insurance Program Enrollment: An Analysis of the Statistical Enrollment Data System.; 2012. https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/71376/412822-an-early-look.pdf. Accessed September 28, 2019.
- 4.18. Blavin F, Kenney GM, Huntress M. The Effects of Express Lane Eligibility on Medicaid and CHIP Enrollment among Children. *Health Serv Res*. 2014;49(4):1268-1289. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12157
- 4.19. Medicaid.gov. Expenditure Reports From MBES/CBES. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/finance/state-expenditure-reporting/expenditure-reports/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.20. Medicaid.gov. Express Lane Eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP Coverage. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/outreach-and-enrollment/express-lane/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.21. Medicaid.gov. Medicaid State Plan Amendments. https://www.medicaid.gov/stateresource-center/medicaid-state-plan-amendments/index.html. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.22. US Census Bureau. American Community Survey (ACS). https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs.
- 4.23. US Census Bureau. Current Population Survey (CPS). https://www.census.gov/programssurveys/cps.html.
- 4.24. US Census Bureau. *Census Regions and Divisions of the United States*. https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/maps-data/maps/reference/us\_regdiv.pdf.
- 4.25. United States Department of Health and Human Services (US DHHS) Centers for Disease

Control and Prevention (CDC) National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) Division of Vital Statistics. Natality public-use data 2007-2018, on CDC WONDER Online Database. http://wonder.cdc.gov/natality-current.html.

- 4.26. National Governors Association. Governors' Rosters (1988-2018) Historical List of Governors by Year in Office. https://www.nga.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/03/Governors-Historical-Rosters.pdf. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.27. National Association of State Budget Officers. Archive of State Expenditure Reports. https://www.nasbo.org/reports-data/state-expenditure-report/state-expenditure-archives. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.28. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Trends in Medicaid Income Eligibility Limits. https://www.kff.org/data-collection/trends-in-medicaid-income-eligibility-limits/. Accessed October 2, 2019.
- 4.29. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for Medicaid and Multiplier (2004-2020). https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/federal-matching-rate-and-multiplier/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22s

ort%22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.

4.30. The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation. Enhanced Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP) for CHIP. https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/enhanced-federal-matchingrate-

chip/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort% 22:%22asc%22%7D. Accessed October 2, 2019.

- 4.31. Beck A. Medicaid Enrollment Programs Offer Hope To Formerly Incarcerated Individuals And Savings For States. *Heal Aff Blog.* 2020. doi:10.1377/hblog20200218.910350
- 4.32. Guyer J, Serafi K, Bachrach D, Gould A. State Strategies for Establishing Connections to Health Care for Justice-Involved Populations: The Central Role of Medicaid.; 2019.

doi:10.26099/CM62-TB94

4.33. Schlenker T, Huber CA. A unique funding opportunity for public health in Texas. *J Public Heal Manag Pract.* 2015;21(Suppl 1):S81-S86. doi:10.1097/PHH.00000000000131

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

#### CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this dissertation was to characterize trends and changes in state-level Medicaid administrative expenditures as well as consider relationships and effects of various programmatic and policy decisions. To do this, Chapter 2 first described state trends and economic, demographic, political, and programmatic correlates of two measures of Medicaid administrative spending since 2007. Chapter 3 considered the effect of Medicaid expansion after the ACA on administrative spending in addition to considering differing effects by expansion type. Finally, Chapter 4 estimated the effect of any ELE policy to facilitate child enrollment on administrative spending. In addition to consideration of any ELE policy, the current dissertation also described heterogenous effects by ELE approach and over time.

As state-run programs sensitive to economic, demographic, and political changes, the aim of Chapter 2 was to first describe the trends and levels of administrative spending by state and then to consider correlates of these spending levels. Descriptive analyses identified variation in both measures of administrative spending across states. In 2017, there was nearly a one-thousanddollar difference in per-enrollee administrative spending between the states with the highest and lowest spending values. State fixed-effects models identified several characteristics both within and outside of state control that are related to administrative spending. Certain demographic characteristics such as birth rate, percent of the population that is 65 and older and percent of the population that is Black were associated with higher spending levels. Various programmatic characteristics including the parental eligibility policy as well as having a non-Republican governor in office were associated with significantly lower levels of administrative spending. While these estimates are not causal, this study is the first to quantify variations in Medicaid administrative spending and to estimate correlates of these outcomes. This evidence may help drive conversations about program structures, efficiency of Medicaid, and support forecasting of

state administrative spending, especially as many of the characteristics associated with administrative spending that are outside of state control are able to be forecasted.

Medicaid expansion after the ACA is one of the largest policy changes to Medicaid since its creation, however only some states expanded and many did so in different ways. On average, results presented in Chapter 3 find that there is no effect of Medicaid expansion on administrative spending compared to non-expansion states. When considering how the state expanded, there remains no effect of expansion on administrative spending for either those that expanded using the ACA mechanism or those that used demonstration waivers. However, there does appear to be a differing effect based on the potential size of expansion. Depending on the model and outcome considered, states with large expansions were observed to have significantly lower administrative spending after expansion compared to their non-expansion counterparts while states with small expansions experienced significant increases. This analysis also suggested that on average, states were able to expand without greatly affecting their administrative spending. The potential implication for Medicaid spending has been noted as a concern for governors and other policymakers and a reason for reluctance among several states that have not yet expanded Medicaid. Additionally, the finding that states with large expansions may be most likely to experience reductions in administrative spending is particularly relevant as many of the states that have not expanded their Medicaid programs would experience large expansions. This finding also supports the need to consider heterogenous effects of Medicaid policies and structures given the autonomy states have over their programs. Overall, this study will help to better inform states still considering expansions and to provide evidence regarding the efficiency and value of Medicaid spending.

The final study in this dissertation presented in Chapter 4 estimated the effects of ELE on administrative spending. Findings from this study suggest that there was no universal effect of ELE on administrative spending, however like with Medicaid expansion there may be differing effects depending on how the state structured their ELE process. States with automated ELE for

both initial and redeterminations were observed to have significant increases in administrative spending after ELE relative to non-expansion years. States with simplified ELE for initial determinations experienced a significant decrease in per-enrollee administrative spending while states with other types of ELE experienced significant increases for the percent of total spending that is administrative. Descriptive analyses of the average spending for ELE states after implementation suggest there may be a non-linear effect where there is an increase in administrative spending for several years followed by a decrease. However, on average, states with ELE even after implementation spent less on these measures of administrative spending . Like earlier work, this study suggests ELE appears to have a nonlinear effect on administrative spending and one that varies by ELE approach. Many states have modified, discontinued, or considered ELE in recent years and these findings provide a more comprehensive understanding of the potential effects of ELE and the importance of structure on these effects.

In combination, this dissertation supports greater understanding of Medicaid programs, structures, and performance. Healthcare dministrative spending has been of great interest nationally in recent years, however Medicaid has often been left out of that conversation. In addition, recent changes in Medicaid have sparked interest and concern over implications for administrative spending and alignment with the intended goals of Medicaid. The studies in this dissertation provide evidence of some of these changes, support of the need to consider state-specific context and structures, and provide a structure for future studies considering implications of additional Medicaid policies and variations.

Overall, this dissertation contributes to the knowledge base of Medicaid structures and performance. As publicly funded programs with a great deal of state control, understanding the implications of structural decisions and impact of contextual factors are vital to meeting the goals of the program. In addition, states were given authority over their programs in hope that states would serve as policy learning environments to continue to modify and improve the program. This dissertation provides an evidence base for levels, trends, and correlates of administrative

spending and then considers effects of two recent policy choices that have theoretical implications for administrative spending. In addition, my work underscores the need to thoroughly consider effects of Medicaid policies as they are often structured differently and implemented in unique state environments and therefore experience heterogeneous effects. Future work may build off of this body of evidence to explore more detailed measures of administrative spending, the effects of additional policies and structures, and consider the effectiveness or efficiency of administrative spending.

# APPENDICES

# **APPENDIX A: Sensitivity Analysis Regression Results with Different Treatment of Outliers**

		MAIN MO	DDEL	Model	Model 2		Model 3		Model 4	
		top & bott percentile re	tom 1 emoved	All State-	Years	VT 2007-2011	removed	bottom 1 per remove	rcentile ed	
		coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	
	Recession Indicators									
	Period 1: Before Recession (2007)	-0.00106	0.995	-0.0439	0.799	-0.0454	0.793	-0.0425	0.806	
	Period 2: During Recession (2008-2009)	ref		ref		ref		ref		
	Period 3: Post-Recession (2010-2013)	-0.0853	0.564	-0.0492	0.750	-0.0567	0.715	-0.0442	0.776	
	Period 4: Post-Recession & Post-ACA Implementation (2014-2017)	-0.366	0.101	-0.207	0.374	-0.183	0.429	-0.162	0.486	
PROGRAMMATIC	Percent Managed Care	-0.00662*	0.023	-0.00847**	0.005	-0.00693*	0.024	-0.00689*	0.025	
CHARACTERISTICS	FMAP Match Rate (%)	-0.0189*	0.046	-0.0316**	0.001	-0.0272**	0.006	-0.0268**	0.007	
	Parental Eligibility Policy (% FPL)	-0.00565***	< 0.001	-0.00551***	< 0.001	-0.00483***	< 0.001	-0.00492***	< 0.001	
POLITICAL	Percent state budget spent on Medicaid	0.0000507	0.997	-0.00135	0.934	-0.00518	0.751	-0.00425	0.795	
CHARACTERISTICS	Governor Democrat/Other	-0.215*	0.027	-0.177	0.081	-0.239*	0.020	-0.241*	0.019	
ECONOMIC &	Unemployment Rate	0.00791	0.836	0.0579	0.146	0.0366	0.359	0.0378	0.343	
DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	Percent population w/ Bachelor's or above	0.0327	0.648	0.0751	0.310	0.0678	0.364	0.0713	0.340	
	Total population (millions)	-0.536***	< 0.001	-0.516***	0.001	-0.520***	0.001	-0.526***	0.001	
	Percent Population Male	0.0464	0.866	-0.135	0.632	-0.123	0.661	-0.132	0.639	
	Birth rate (per 1,000)	0.289**	0.008	0.506***	< 0.001	0.438***	< 0.001	0.439***	< 0.001	
	Percent Population 65+	0.347***	0.001	0.406***	< 0.001	0.309**	0.004	0.302**	0.005	
	Percent Race									
	Percent Population White	ref		ref		ref		ref		
	Percent Population Black	0.268*	0.041	0.357**	0.010	0.360**	0.009	0.361**	0.009	
	Percent Population Other	-0.175***	< 0.001	-0.194***	< 0.001	-0.188***	< 0.001	-0.191***	< 0.001	
	Percent Population Hispanic	0.152	0.096	0.149	0.121	0.187	0.051	0.182	0.059	
	Constant	-3.417	0.796	0.496	0.971	1.695	0.900	2.153	0.873	

Appendix Table A.1. Percent of Total Spending Administrative Model Comparisons with Different Treatment of Outliers

		MAIN M	IODEL	Mode	12	Mode	13	Model 4	
		top & bottom remo	1 percentile wed	All State-	Years	VT 2007-201	l removed	bottom 1 percen	tile removed
		coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value
	Recession Indicators								
	Period 1: Before Recession (2007)	0.29	0.99	-1.927	0.92	-1.978	0.92	-1.94	0.92
	Period 2: During Recession (2008-2009)	ref		ref		ref		ref	
	Period 3:Post-Recession (2010-2013)	-24.54	0.12	-28.84	0.09	-30.44	0.07	-30.25	0.08
	Period 4: Post-Recession & Post-ACA Implementation (2014-2017)	-85.69***	<0.001	-85.44***	<0.001	-83.45**	0.001	-83.32**	0.001
PROCRAMMATIC	Percent Managed Care	-0.344	0.27	-0.565	0.09	-0.379	0.26	-0.377	0.26
CHARACTERISTICS	FMAP Match Rate (%)	-1.156	0.25	-1.954	0.07	-1.444	0.18	-1.445	0.18
	Parental Eligibility Policy (%FPL)	-0.463***	<0.001	-0.511***	< 0.001	-0.433**	0.00	-0.433**	0.003
POLITICAL	Percent state budget spent on Medicaid	0.0809	0.96	0.527	0.77	0.0826	0.96	0.116	0.95
CHARACTERISTICS	Governor Democrat/Other	-22.31*	0.03	-18.63	0.09	-25.94*	0.02	-25.84*	0.02
	Unemployment Rate	2.546	0.53	6.346	0.15	3.93	0.37	3.935	0.37
	Percent population w/ Bachelor's or above	11.09	0.15	16.42*	0.04	15.43	0.06	15.49	0.06
	Total population (millions)	-17.48	0.27	-14.99	0.38	-15.49	0.36	-15.7	0.35
	Percent Population Male	22.99	0.44	33.75	0.27	35.55	0.25	35.52	0.25
ECONOMIC &	Birth rate (per 1,000)	34.03**	0.004	49.08***	< 0.001	41.00***	< 0.001	41.23***	< 0.001
DEMOGRAPHIC	Percent Population 65+	30.53**	0.01	33.29**	< 0.001	22.14	0.06	22.02	0.06
CHARACTERISTICS	Percent Race								
	Percent Population White								
	Percent Population Black	45.61**	0.001	61.63***	< 0.001	62.13***	< 0.001	62.03***	< 0.001
	Percent Population Other	-18.74***	<0.001	-20.53***	< 0.001	-19.78***	< 0.001	-19.92***	< 0.001
	Percent Population Hispanic	-12.25	0.22	-11.91	0.26	-7.298	0.49	-7.096	0.50
	Constant	-1713.4	0.22	-2747.7	0.06	-2631.3	0.08	-2632.6	0.08

# Appendix Table A.2. Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending Model Comparisons with Different Treatment of Outliers

# **APPENDIX B: Sensitivity Analysis Regression Results with Lagged Political Characteristics**

Appendix Table B.1. Sensitivity Analysis Regression Results with Lagged Political Characteristics

	A	Administrative Spending as Percent of Total Spending				Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending						
	MAIN N	<b>10DEL</b>	Lagged Pe State B	Lagged Percent of State Budget		overnor	MAIN M	ODEL	Lagged Percent of State Budget		Lagged G	overnor
	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value	coef.	p-value
Recession Indicators												
Period 1: Before Recession (2007)	-0.001	0.995	-0.006	0.971	-0.014	0.935	0.29	0.987	-0.05	0.998	-2.33	0.897
Period 2: During Recession (2008-2009)	ref		ref		ref		ref		ref		ref	
Period 3: Post-Recession (2010-2013)	-0.085	0.564	-0.090	0.544	-0.061	0.682	-24.54	0.122	-24.89	0.117	-22.23	0.161
Period 4: Post-Recession & Post-ACA												
Implementation (2014-2017)	-0.366	0.101	-0.368	0.098	-0.352	0.116	-85.69***	< 0.001	-85.85***	< 0.001	-84.65***	< 0.001
Percent Managed Care	-0.007*	0.023	-0.007*	0.021	-0.007*	0.025	-0.34	0.273	-0.35	0.264	-0.34	0.28
FMAP Match Rate (%)	-0.019*	0.046	-0.019*	0.043	-0.018	0.06	-1.16	0.254	-1.18	0.246	-1.04	0.306
Parental Eligibility Policy (%FPL)	-0.006***	<0.001	-0.006***	< 0.001	-0.006***	< 0.001	-0.46***	0.001	-0.47***	< 0.001	-0.45**	0.001
Percent state budget spent on Medicaid	0.000	0.997			0.001	0.968	0.08	0.961			0.03	0.984
Lagged % state budget spent on Medicaid			0.009	0.583					0.68	0.684		
Governor Democrat/Other	-0.215*	0.027	-0.214*	0.028			-22.31*	0.034	-22.26*	0.034		
Lagged governor Democrat/Other					-0.088	0.359					-15.69	0.13
Unemployment Rate	0.008	0.836	0.011	0.772	0.002	0.957	2.55	0.532	2.80	0.497	1.919	0.638
Percent population w/ Bachelor's or above	0.033	0.648	0.035	0.623	0.044	0.545	11.09	0.151	11.28	0.145	11.51	0.138
Total population (millions)	-0.536***	<0.001	-0.550***	< 0.001	-0.571***	< 0.001	-17.48	0.265	-18.53	0.239	-19.34	0.218
Percent Population Male	0.046	0.866	0.051	0.853	0.046	0.869	22.99	0.435	23.26	0.429	24.35	0.41
Birth rate (per 1,000)	0.289**	0.008	0.294**	0.007	0.286**	0.009	34.03**	0.004	34.40**	0.003	33.59**	0.004
Percent Population 65+	0.347***	0.001	0.336**	0.001	0.341**	0.001	30.53**	0.006	29.75**	0.008	30.19**	0.007
Percent Race												
Percent Population White												
Percent Population Black	0.268*	0.041	0.261*	0.047	0.262*	0.047	45.61**	0.001	45.05**	0.002	45.66**	0.002
Percent Population Other	-0.175***	<0.001	-0.175***	< 0.001	-0.182***	< 0.001	-18.74***	<0.001	-18.74***	< 0.001	-19.02***	<0.001
Percent Population Hispanic	0.152	0.096	0.153	0.094	0.156	0.09	-12.25	0.215	-12.16	0.219	-12.19	0.219
Constant	-3.417	0.796	-3.632	0.784	-3.355	0.801	-1713.4	0.224	-1726.6	0.221	-1775.9	0.21

# APPENDIX C: Expansion Status, Type, & Dates

Appendix Table C.1. Expansion Status, Type, & Dates

NON- EXPANSION		EXPANSION				
State	State	Implementation Date	Traditional/Waiver Expansion			
Alabama	Alaska	September 2015	traditional			
Florida	Arizona	January 2014	traditional			
Georgia	Arkansas	January 2014	waiver			
Idaho	California	January 2014	traditional			
Kansas	Colorado	January 2014	traditional			
Maine	Connecticut	January 2014	traditional			
Mississippi	Delaware	January 2014	traditional			
Missouri	Hawaii	January 2014	traditional			
Nebraska	Illinois	January 2014	traditional			
North Carolina	Indiana	February 2015	waiver			
Oklahoma	Iowa	January 2014	waiver			
South Carolina	Kentucky	January 2014	traditional			
South Dakota	Louisiana	July 2016	traditional			
Tennessee	Maryland	January 2014	traditional			
Texas	Massachusetts	January 2014	traditional			
Utah	Michigan	April 2014	waiver			
Virginia	Minnesota	January 2014	traditional			
Wisconsin	Montana	January 2016	waiver			
Wyoming	Nevada	January 2014	traditional			
	New Hampshire	August 2014	waiver			
	New Jersey	January 2014	traditional			
	New Mexico	January 2014	traditional			
	New York	January 2014	traditional			
	North Dakota	January 2014	traditional			
	Ohio	January 2014	traditional			
	Oregon	January 2014	traditional			
	Pennsylvania	January 2015	traditional			
	Rhode Island	January 2014	traditional			
	Vermont	January 2014	traditional			
	Washington	January 2014	traditional			
	West Virginia	January 2014	traditional			

## **APPENDIX D: Parallel Trends Assumption Testing**

The difference-in-differences (DID) approach requires there to be parallel trends between the treatment and control observations in the pre-intervention period. Because the intervention (expansion) is timed differently across the treatment observations, we assess this in several ways. First, we consider parallel trends graphically for all expansion states compared to non-expansion states by looking for parallel trends before the main expansions in 2014. Second, we test the parallel trends assumption statistically by running a linear regression with each measure of administrative spending as a function of interaction terms for each year and a binary indicator for that year ever being an expansion state during the study period. We then use a joint-F test to assess the significance of all of the pre-expansion years relative to 2013, the last full year prior to expansion.

Appendix Table D.1. Parallel Trends Assessment for Per-Enrollee Administrative Expenditures Model

	COEF.	STD. ERR.	Т	P>T	[95% CONF.	INTERVAL]
EXPANSION*2007	53.53679	35.55994	1.51	0.133	-16.31953	123.3931
EXPANSION*2008	65.80458	35.55994	1.85	0.065	-4.051746	135.6609
EXPANSION*2009	35.24792	35.55994	0.99	0.322	-34.6084	105.1042
EXPANSION*2010	0.7889407	35.02717	0.02	0.982	-68.02079	69.59867
EXPANSION*2011	-2.169947	35.02717	-0.06	0.951	-70.97968	66.63978
EXPANSION*2012	37.55677	34.52134	1.09	0.277	-30.25926	105.3728
EXPANSION*2014	-44.19536	35.02717	-1.26	0.208	-113.0051	24.61437
EXPANSION*2015	-8.617339	34.52134	-0.25	0.803	-76.43338	59.1987
EXPANSION*2016	-16.14264	35.55994	-0.45	0.65	-85.99896	53.71369
EXPANSION*2017	-10.36676	34.52134	-0.3	0.764	-78.1828	57.44927
CONSTANT	442.2284	11.67572	37.88	0	419.2918	465.1649

F(6, 528) = 1.09

PROB > F = 0.3688

Appendix Table D.2. Parallel Trends Assessment for Percent of Total Spending that is

	COEF.	STD. ERR.	Т	P>T	[95% CONF.	INTERVAL]
EXPANSION*2007	-0.107754	0.2895403	-0.37	0.71	-0.676547	0.4610381
EXPANSION*2008	-0.096999	0.2939402	-0.33	0.742	-0.674434	0.4804372
EXPANSION*2009	-0.237695	0.2895403	-0.82	0.412	-0.806487	0.3310979
EXPANSION*2010	-0.563564	0.2939402	-1.92	0.056	-1.141	0.0138714
EXPANSION*2011	-0.541829	0.2895403	-1.87	0.062	-1.110622	0.0269632
EXPANSION*2012	-0.011746	0.2853629	-0.04	0.967	-0.572332	0.54884
EXPANSION*2014	-0.067188	0.2895403	-0.23	0.817	-0.635980	0.5016047
EXPANSION*2015	-0.187669	0.2853629	-0.66	0.511	-0.748255	0.3729176
EXPANSION*2016	-0.273520	0.2895403	-0.94	0.345	-0.842312	0.2952727
EXPANSION*2017	-0.238421	0.2853629	-0.84	0.404	-0.799007	0.3221653
CONSTANT	5.172057	0.0968729	53.39	0	4.981753	5.36236

Administrative Model

F(6, 528) = 1.14

**PROB** > **F** = 0.3395

## **APPENDIX E: Description of Size of Expansion**

Expansion size was proxied using the percent of the non-elderly, adult population below 100% FPL that was uninsured in the last full year prior to expansion obtained from KFF. This measure was chosen because this full population should have become eligible for Medicaid after expansion and represents the size of the potential expansion. Below are the uninsurance rates for that state population in the year before expansion as well as if the state was classified as a large or small expansion state. The average and median uninsurance rates for expansion states in the year before expansion were used as the cutoffs for being a large or small expansion state. The average uninsurance rate for these state-years was 32.3% while the median uninsurance rate was 33.2%. These yielded the same classification for all states except for North Dakota which is considered a large expansion state when using the average cutoff but a small expansion states when using the median cutoff.<sup>a</sup>

State	Last full year before expansion	Uninsurance rate (%)	Expansion Size
Alaska	2014	42.99	large
Arizona	2013	42.04	large
Arkansas	2013	47.10	large
California	2013	39.96	large
Colorado	2013	34.03	large
Connecticut	2013	26.18	small
Delaware	2013	24.61	small
Hawaii	2013	22.06	small
Illinois	2013	37.00	large
Indiana	2014	35.58	large
Iowa	2013	27.53	small
Kentucky	2013	41.83	large
Louisiana	2015	35.89	large
Maryland	2013	27.50	small
Massachusetts	2013	10.03	small
Michigan	2013	30.66	small
Minnesota	2013	21.30	small
Montana	2015	31.98	small
Nevada	2013	54.18	large
New Hampshire	2013	34.88	large
New Jersey	2013	42.84	large
New Mexico	2013	47.75	large
New York	2013	23.63	small
North Dakota	2013	32.42	large/small a
Ohio	2013	30.44	small
Oregon	2013	35.90	large
Pennsylvania	2014	25.69	small
Rhode Island	2013	31.80	small
Vermont	2013	9.23	small
Washington	2013	40.49	large
West Virginia	2013	34.03	large

Appendix Table E.1. Expansion State, Timing, and Size

# **APPENDIX F: Effects of Expansion Full Regression Results with Controls Presented**

		PRESENTED ANALYSES						
	All exp vs non	Waiver exp vs non	Traditional exp vs non	lg exp vs non (med)	sm exp vs non (med)			
Expansion	-12.37	-19.09	-10.99	-77.08*	50.56			
Percent Managed Care	-0.192	0.122	-0.390	0.211	-0.489			
FMAP Match Rate	2.468	3.416	1.129	6.550	-0.900			
Parental Eligibility (%FPL)	-0.430	0.0476	-0.532	0.0250	-0.450			
Percent State Budget on Medicaid	0.121	-1.698	-0.302	0.984	-3.009			
Governor's Political Affiliation								
Republic	an ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Democrat/Oth	ner -18.88	-19.98	-18.63	-27.82	-25.78			
Unemployment Rate	7.030	15.02	9.974	9.596	10.40			
Percent Population with Bachelor's or Abc	ove 1.636	0.981	1.154	-8.328	6.009			
Total Population (millions)	-25.06	10.29	-17.99	-5.417	-8.847			
Percent Population Male	-1.158	-57.54	-0.379	-24.05	-11.89			
Birth Rate (per 1,000)	41.43**	53.33**	44.42**	44.08*	37.40*			
Percent Population 65+	-3.088	-9.143	12.94	-20.93	37.99			
Population Race								
Percent Wh	ite ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Percent Bla	ick 35.86	-40.22	41.36	-12.20	15.67			
Percent Oth	ner -21.14**	-18.49	-20.89*	-18.81*	-25.60			
Percent Population Hispanic	-23.67	-48.10*	-23.79	-53.63**	-18.81			
Constant	88.73	3265.7	-168.5	1988.1	314.1			
N	539	275	473	380	368			
adj. R-sq	0.238	0.192	0.255	0.343	0.181			

Appendix Table F.1. Full Regression Results for Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending Models

Appendix Table F.2. Full Regression Results for Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative

Models

		PRESENTED ANALYSES						
			Waiver	Traditiona				
		All exp	exp vs	l exp vs	lg exp vs	sm exp vs		
		vs non	non	non	non (med)	non (med)		
Expansion		0.115	0.0877	0.0953	-0.411	0.663**		
Percent Managed Care		-0.00530	-0.00272	-0.00562	-0.00155	-0.00790		
FMAP Match Rate		-0.00284	0.00631	-0.000014	0.0450	-0.0219		
Parental Eligibility (%FPI	_)	-0.006**	-0.00041	-0.007***	-0.00106	-0.00764**		
Percent State Budget on M	Iedicaid	0.000845	-0.0451	0.00861	-0.000056	-0.0239		
Governor's Political Affili	ation							
	Republican	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref		
	Democrat/Other	-0.201	-0.223	-0.176	-0.305	-0.223		
Unemployment Rate		-0.0110	0.0190	-0.0140	0.0340	-0.0885		
Percent Population with B	achelor's or							
Above		0.0380	-0.0173	0.0379	-0.0269	0.0602		
Total Population (millions	5)	-0.567*	0.0676	-0.565*	-0.393	-0.244		
Percent Population Male		-0.0352	-0.346	-0.0102	-0.225	0.0725		
Birth Rate (per 1,000)		0.294*	0.357*	0.307*	0.293	0.225		
Percent Population 65+		0.212	0.150	0.255	0.0154	0.456		
Population Race								
	Percent White	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref		
	Percent Black	0.203	-0.519	0.250	-0.245	0.0486		
	Percent Other	-0.179*	-0.112	-0.184*	-0.160	-0.194		
Percent Population Hispar	nic	0.101	-0.254	0.125	-0.195	0.150		
Constant		2.556	24.53	-0.162	18.95	-4.145		
Ν		539	273	473	381	365		
adj. R-sq		0.208	0.211	0.213	0.241	0.216		

# **APPENDIX G: Regression Results from Expansion Sensitivity Analyses**

Appendix Table G.1. Regression Results for Per-Enrollee Administrative Spending Sensitivity

# Analyses

	SENSITIVITY ANALYSES							
	Post-	All exp			Stratifie			
	recession	vs non,	All exp	Stratified	d sm exp			
	only (2010-	lead	vs non,	lg exp vs	vs non			
	2017)	effect	lag effect	non (avg)	(avg)			
Expansion	-5.491			-66.95	58.61*			
Expansion Lead		18.32						
Expansion Lag			12.63					
Percent Managed Care	-0.412	-0.0988	-0.196	0.158	-0.461			
FMAP Match Rate	3.276	3.276	2.760	5.309	0.574			
Parental Eligibility (% FPL)	-0.432	-0.434	-0.505*	-0.0532	-0.489			
Percent State Budget on Medicaid	-1.926	0.0986	-0.404	1.613	-3.890			
Governor's Political Affiliation								
Republican	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Democrat/Other	-21.25	-11.45	-19.63	-24.81	-28.20			
Unemployment Rate	12.82	6.294	8.242	11.23	10.55			
Percent Population with Bachelor's or								
Above	18.07	-8.955	1.075	-2.390	5.381			
Total Population (millions)	-23.23	-39.24	-20.85	-8.577	-10.76			
Percent Population Male	2.833	-14.40	-0.232	-10.62	-34.15			
Birth Rate (per 1,000)	44.62*	37.48*	40.69**	48.28**	24.73			
Percent Population 65+	24.52	-5.078	-5.943	-31.84	56.91			
Population Race								
Percent White	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Percent Black	68.71	13.52	32.68	16.38	-3.871			
Percent Other	-16.28	-25.84**	-21.51**	-18.00*	-26.99			
Percent Population Hispanic	-6.184	-22.72	-26.86*	-51.23**	-10.40			
Constant	-1648.8	1411.9	141.6	985.6	1478.1			
N	395	489	539	390	358			
adi, R-so	0.197	0.244	0.238	0.326	0.212			

Appendix Table G.2. Regression Results for Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative

Sensitivity Analyses

	SENSITIVITY ANALYSES							
	Post-recession only (2010-2017)	All exp vs non, lead effect	All exp vs non, lag effect	Stratified lg exp vs non (avg)	Stratified sm exp vs non (avg)			
Expansion	0.209			-0.329	0.685**			
Expansion Lead		0.220						
Expansion Lag			0.127					
Percent Managed Care	-0.00653	-0.00388	-0.00526	-0.00170	-0.00825			
FMAP Match Rate	-0.00301	-0.000079	-0.00227	0.0327	-0.00842			
Parental Eligibility (%FPL)	-0.00521*	-0.00472*	-0.0058**	-0.00137	-0.008***			
Percent State Budget on Medicaid	-0.0282	0.00283	0.000216	0.00157	-0.0254			
Governor's Political Affiliation								
Republican	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Democrat/Other	-0.180	-0.125	-0.191	-0.293	-0.226			
Unemployment Rate Percent Population with	-0.00206	-0.0240	-0.00978	0.0443	-0.0943			
Bachelor's or Above	0.129	-0.0159	0.0377	-0.0132	0.0776			
Total Population (millions)	-0.463	-0.711*	-0.567*	-0.406	-0.254			
Percent Population Male	0.0832	-0.0610	-0.0250	-0.253	0.176			
Birth Rate (per 1,000)	0.389*	0.208	0.294*	0.342*	0.129			
Percent Population 65+	0.358	0.200	0.214	-0.0539	0.558			
Population Race								
Percent White	ref	ref	ref	ref	ref			
Percent Black	0.248	0.109	0.199	-0.0764	-0.0751			
Percent Other	-0.164**	-0.188*	-0.179*	-0.153	-0.207*			
Percent Population Hispanic	0.220	0.109	0.0999	-0.194	0.208			
Constant	-11.13	8.144	2.032	18.93	-9.107			
Ν	393	489	539	390	356			
adi. R-sq	0.233	0.205	0.209	0.237	0.227			

#### **APPENDIX H: Description of ELE Data**

ELE policy data came from a variety of sources including 1. CMS data table of ELE data most recently accessed on March 25, 2020; 2. Medicaid State Plan Amendments; 3. KFF annual reports from the Survey of Medicaid Officials; 4. report from the mandatory first year evaluation conducted by Mathematica, and 5. report from the mandatory final evaluation conducted by Mathematica. There were several differences across these data sources. The data sources given the highest priority were the two mandatory evaluation reports from Mathematica. These evaluations required thorough and timely evaluations of the status and progress of states towards ELE implementation, however they are only available for certain states and in the early years of the program. These provided the most detail on actual implementation dates and changes in the early years of ELE. KFF reports had more limited data but are available for all states on a yearly basis. In order to implement ELE, states use State Plan Amendment modifications. These provide detail on the ELE approach and implementation dates, however there are a few instances of missing documents. Finally, the CMS data table provides more limited information and includes inconsistencies and missing fields. Because of the variation in implementation data, several sensitivity analyses were conducted to assess the robustness of the findings to the variations in data. See results from these analyses in Appendix J.

#### PER ENROLLEE ADMIN PERCENT OF TOTAL SPENDING SPENDING MODELS ADMIN MODELS **MODEL 1 MODEL 2** MODEL 3 **MODEL 4** Any ELE ELE approach Any ELE ELE approach coef coef p-value p-value p-value coef p-value coef ELE active No ELE ref ref ref ref Any ELE -10.80 0.575 0.36 0.060 ELE Approach No/pre-ELE 0.007 -0.03 0.841 Simplified, initial -45.54 Auto, both 66.17 0.001 1.32 < 0.001 Other ELE 14.84 0.509 0.54 0.004 Percent Managed Care -0.18 0.701 -0.15 0.760 -0.01 0.177 -0.01 0.210 Medicaid Expansion Status Non-Expansion ref ref ref ref ref ref ref ref 0.681 -8.20 0.761 0.12 0.418 Expansion -11.08 0.556 0.16 FMAP Match Rate 2.57 0.464 3.69 0.294 0.00 0.974 0.01 0.631 Parental Eligibility Policy (%FPL) -0.45 0.065 -0.43 0.080 -0.01 0.003 -0.01 0.005 Percent of State Budget on Medicaid 0.14 0.954 -0.22 0.929 0.00 0.878 -0.01 0.741 Governor's Political Affiliation Republican ref ref ref ref ref ref ref ref Democrat/Other -20.14 0.115 -20.68 0.095 -0.20 -0.22 0.096 0.135 0.400 0.917 Unemployment rate 7.70 8.17 0.381 0.00 0.990 0.01 Percent Bachelor's Degree or Above 1.88 0.861 0.741 0.02 0.827 0.04 3.38 0.675 **Total Population** (millions) -26.66 0.221 -27.78 0.214 -0.55 0.040 0.042 -0.56 Percent of Population -0.79 0.976 -8.07 -0.03 0.901 0.756 -0.100.689 Male Birth Rate (per 1,000) 42.45 0.002 43.68 0.001 0.32 0.004 0.34 0.002 Percent of Population 0.760 0.378 0.477 65 +-4.60 0.869 -8.36 0.20 0.16 Population Race Percent of Population White ref ref ref ref ref ref ref ref Percent of Population 0.164 38.61 0.295 0.137 Black 35.87 0.120 0.20 0.24 Percent of Population Other Race -21.29 0.008 -22.00 0.006 -0.18 0.015 -0.18 0.010 Percent of Population Hispanic -21.38 0.088 -20.15 0.095 0.10 0.435 0.11 0.369

# **APPENDIX I: Effects of ELE Full Regression Results with Controls Presented**

Appendix Table I.1. Effects of ELE Full Regression Results with Controls Presented

#### **APPENDIX J: Regression Results from ELE Sensitivity Analyses**

Several sensitivity analyses were conducted based on variations in ELE policy data across sources and to exclude post-Medicaid expansion years from the data. Findings from sensitivity analyses are all qualitatively similar to the main findings presented in terms of direction and significance of coefficient estimates.

- Sensitivity analysis 1 includes New Jersey having active ELE in 2017. In the main model, New Jersey 2017 was excluded from the analysis because these years were not considered active ELE in the KFF 2017 report however there was no other evidence that New Jersey terminated their ELE program during the study period.
- Sensitivity analysis 2 includes Maryland having active ELE in 2016 and 2017. In the main model, Maryland 2016 and 2017 were excluded from the analysis because these years were not considered active ELE in the KFF 2017 report however there was no other evidence that Maryland terminated their program during the study period.
- Sensitivity analysis 3 excludes South Carolina's use of ELE for initial determinations
  throughout the study period. In the main model, South Carolina is considered to have
  ELE for initial determinations starting in 2013. KFF reports and the final year findings
  from the Mathematica evaluation report suggest that South Carolina had ELE for initial
  determinations starting in September of 2012 however neither the CMS table nor South
  Carolina State Plan Amendments reflect this.
- Sensitivity analysis 4 considers only the years prior to main Medicaid expansions of 2014. While expansion indicators are included in the main models presented, this analysis supplements these to ensure that any findings of the effects of ELE are not being driven indirectly through Medicaid expansion decisions and implementation.

		Per-Enrollee Admin Models							
	Sensitivi NJ any ELE	ty Analysis 1- 2017 on ELE approach	Sensitivi MD 201 any ELE	ty Analysis 2- 16 & 2017 on ELE approach	Sensitivity Analysis 3- SC Initial Det off entire time ELE approach	Sensitivi Pre-Ex (2013 any ELE	ty Analysis 4- pansion only and earlier) ELE approach		
ELE active									
No ELE	ref		ref			ref			
Any ELE ELE Approach	-11.62		-11.21			-8.08			
No/pre-ELE		ref		ref	ref		ref		
Simplified, initial		-47.57**		-57.50**	-44.79**		-60.06*		
Auto, both		66.01**		66.21**	69.68*		69.60**		
Other ELE		15.28		13.76	22.38		44.19*		

# Appendix Table J.1. Results from Sensitivity Analyses for Per-Enrollee Models

Appendix Table J.2. Results from Sensitivity Analyses for Percent of Total Spending that is

# Administrative Models

	Percent of Total Spending that is Administrative Models							
	Sensitivi NJ any ELE	ity Analysis 1- 2017 on ELE approach	Sensitivi MD 20 any ELE	ity Analysis 2- 16 & 2017 on ELE approach	Sensitivity Analysis 3- SC Initial Det off entire time ELE approach	Sensitivi Pre-Ex (2013 any ELE	ity Analysis 4- pansion only and earlier) ELE approach	
ELE active								
No ELE	ref		ref			ref		
Any ELE ELE Approach	0.35		0.35			0.20		
No/pre-ELE Simplified		ref		ref	ref		ref	
initial		-0.04		-0.12	-0.02		-0.26	
Auto, both		1.32***		1.32***	1.09***		1.17***	
Other ELE		0.54**		0.53**	0.70**		0.57**	

# CURRICULUM VITAE CASEY PATRICIA BALIO

### **EDUCATION**

**PhD**, Health Policy and Management Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health Indiana University, Indianapolis (IUPUI) 2016 - 2020

2014

2015 - 2016

#### Dissertation

Title: "Medicaid Administrative Costs: Trends, Expansion Effects, and Express Lane Eligibility" Committee Members: Nir Menachemi, PhD (Chair), Justin Blackburn, PhD, Valerie Yeager, DrPH, & Kosali Simon, PhD

**B.A.,** Biology & Evolutionary Biology Minor in Nutrition Case Western Reserve University

## **POSITIONS & EMPLOYMENT**

## Department of Health Policy and Management Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health, Indiana University, Indianapolis (IUPUI)

Research Assistant on following projects:	2016 - 2020					
State Epidemiological Outcomes Workgroup	2016 - 2018					
Medicaid expansion systematic review	2017					
Public health systems & services workforce	2018 - 2019					
Optimizing Patient Transfers, Impacting Medical Quality, & Improving Symptoms: Transforming Institutional Care	2019 - 2020					
Emergency department utilization related to opioid use	2017 - 2020					
Perceptions of progress and barriers towards the 2008 Institute of Medicine Report, 'For the Public's Health: Investing in a Healthier Future'	2019 - 2020					
Hawthorne Academy of Health Sciences Charlotte Mecklenburg Schools						
High School Science Teacher	2014 - 2016					
Department Chair, High School Science Department	2015 - 2016					

High School Faculty Advisory Committee Leader

## **TEACH Charlotte, TNTP**

Online Seminar Instructor

## PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

- Orr JM, Leider JP, Singh S, Balio CP, Yeager VA, Bekemeier B, McCullough MJ, Resnick B. Regarding Investment in a Healthier Future: Impact of the 2012 Institute of Medicine Finance Report. Accepted for publication at Journal of Public Health Management and Practice.
- 2. **Balio CP**, Wiley Jr KK, Greene MS, Vest JR. Opioid-Related Emergency Department Encounters: Patient, Encounter, and Community Characteristics Associated With Repeated Encounters. Annals of Emergency Medicine. 2020 Jan 23.
- 3. **Balio CP**, Apathy NC, Danek RL. Health Information Technology and Accountable Care Organizations: A Systematic Review and Future Directions. eGEMs. 2019;7(1).
- 4. **Balio CP**, Yeager VA, Beitsch LM. Perceptions of Public Health 3.0: Concordance Between Public Health Agency Leaders and Employees. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice. 2019 Mar 1;25:S103-12.
- 5. Yeager VA, **Balio CP**, Kronstadt J, Beitsch LM. The Relationship Between Health Department Accreditation and Workforce Satisfaction, Retention, and Training Needs. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice. 2019 Mar 1;25:S113-23.
- Mazurenko O, Balio CP, Agarwal R, Carroll AE, Menachemi N. The effects of Medicaid expansion under the ACA: a systematic review. Health Affairs. 2018 Jun 1;37(6):944-50.
- 7. Gilbert AL, **Balio C**, Bauer NS. Making the legal and ethical case for universal screening for postpartum mood and anxiety disorders in pediatric primary care. Current problems in pediatric and adolescent health care. 2017 Oct 1;47(10):267-77.

#### **TECHNICAL REPORTS & WHITE PAPERS**

- Leider JP, Yeager VA, Orr J, Balio CP, Bekemeier B, McCullough M, Resnick B, Singh S. (2019) Characterizing the Impact of the 2012 Institute of Medicine Report on Public Health Finance: A Final Report. Retrieved from https://phnci.org/uploads/resourcefiles/Impact-of-the-2012-IOM-Report\_FINAL.pdf.
- 2. Greene MS, **Balio C**, Kooreman HE, Jacinto C, Hilts K. (2018). Indiana State Epidemiology and Outcomes Workgroup. The consumption and consequences of alcohol, tobacco, and drugs in Indiana: A state epidemiological profile 2018. Indiana University Center for Health Policy. Indianapolis, IN. [Annual publication]
- 3. **Balio C**, Greene MS. (2018). *The impact of parental incarceration on children's health* & *development* (No. 18-H08). IUPUI Center for Health Policy. Retrieved from https://fsph.iupui.edu/doc/research-centers/Parental-Incarceration.pdf

- 4. **Balio C**, Greene MS. (2018). *Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and their impact on substance misuse & overall health* (No. 18-H01). IUPUI Center for Health Policy. Retrieved from https://fsph.iupui.edu/research-centers/centers/health-policy/Adverse-Childhood-Experiences.pdf
- Balio C, Greene MS. (2017). Substance Abuse Trends in Indiana: A 10-Year Perspective (No. 17-H02). IUPUI Center for Health Policy. Retrieved from https://fsph.iupui.edu/doc/researchcenters/Substance%20Abuse%20Trends%20in%20Indiana%20-%20A%2010-Year%20Perspective%202017.pdf
- 6. Greene MS, Kooreman HE, Omenka I, **Balio CP** (2017). Indiana State Epidemiology and Outcomes Workgroup. The consumption and consequences of alcohol, tobacco, and drugs in Indiana: A state epidemiological profile. Indiana University Center for Health Policy. Indianapolis, IN. [Annual publication]

# **POSTERS & PRESENTATIONS**

- 1. **Balio CP**, Blackburn J, Menachemi N. Trends in and Correlates of State Medicaid Administrative Expenditures (2007-2017). Poster presentation at 2020 AcademyHealth Health Datapalooza and National Health Policy Conference, Feb 10, 2020. AcademyHealth.
- 2. **Balio CP** & Yeager V. (2019, November). Public Health 3.0: Perceptions from the Workplace. Presentation at APHA's 2019 Annual Meeting and Expo (Nov. 2-Nov. 6). American Public Health Association.
- Yeager V, Beitsch L, Kronstadt J, Balio CP. (2019, November). Accreditation and Workforce Satisfaction, Retention, and Training Needs in Public Health Agencies. Presentation at APHA's 2019 Annual Meeting and Expo (Nov. 2-Nov. 6). American Public Health Association.
- 4. **Balio CP**, Wiley KK, Greene MS, Vest JR. Opioid-Related Emergency Department Encounters: Patient and Visit Characteristics Associated with Repeat Encounters. Poster presentation at AcademyHealth Annual Research Meeting, Washington DC, June 2-4, 2019.
- 5. **Balio CP**. The relationship between adverse childhood experiences, substance misuse, suicide, & future health. Presentation at Faces of Suicide Conference, Gary, IN, Nov. 2, 2018.
- 6. **Balio CP**, Apathy NC, Wiley, KK. Patient-Centered Medical Home Patients Have Fewer Hospitalizations: An Analysis Using MEPS Data. Poster presentation at AcademyHealth Annual Research Meeting, Seattle, WA, June 24-26, 2018.
- 7. **Balio CP**. The relationship between adverse childhood experiences, substance misuse, and future health. Podium presentation at Indiana State Epidemiological Outcomes Workgroup Annual Symposium, Indianapolis, IN, May 18, 2018.
- 8. **Balio CP** & Wiley, KK. Does incorporating unstructured data provide more accurate prevalence estimates of opioid misuse than structured data alone? Podium presentation at

Indiana State Epidemiological Outcomes Workgroup Annual Symposium, Indianapolis, IN, May 18, 2018.

9. Apathy NC, **Balio CP**, Danek RL. Underrepresentation of health information technology studies in the context of accountable care organizations: Using the HSRProj database. Poster presentation at AcademyHealth Annual Research Meeting, New Orleans, LA, June 25-27, 2017.

# **BOOK CHAPTERS**

1. Menachemi N, **Balio CP**. (Forthcoming) Understanding Revenue and Delivery Models in the United States Healthcare System, in Boulton, ML, and Wallace, RB, Maxcy-Rosenau-Last Public Health and Preventive Medicine, 16th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

## **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

Instructor, H346: Organizational Behavior & Human Resources for Healthcare	Fall, 2019
Undergraduate course, hybrid Enrollment: 42	
Teaching Assistant, H101: Influencing the Public's Health Undergraduate Course, online and in-person versions Enrollment: 41-52	Fall 2018, Spring 2019
<ul> <li>Teaching Assistant, H501: US Health Care System and Health Policy Summer 2018</li> <li>Master of Public Health course, online Enrollment: 36</li> </ul>	
Teaching Assistant, Leadership in Healthcare Administration Master of Health Administration course, in-person Enrollment: 29	Fall 2017
AWARDS AND HONORS	
HSRProj Student Competition Winner (with team) AcademyHealth student chapter competition	2017
<b>Teacher of Excellence Award</b> MeckEd award for Charlotte-Mecklenberg Schools elementary, middle, and high school educators	2016
PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIP	

Member, AcademyHealth, 2017 - current Member, Academy of Management, 2017 - current